World Journal of *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 1-50





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J

GEWorld Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscorr

Contents

Monthly Volume 16 Number 1 January 16, 2024

EDITORIAL

1 Prospects of polyglycolic acid sheets for the treatment of esophageal stricture after esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection

Wang QX, Shi RH

5 Nomogram to predict gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions: Clinical significance

Wen XP, Wan QQ

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study

11 Propofol sedation in routine endoscopy: A case series comparing target controlled infusion vs manually controlled bolus concept

Sarraj R, Theiler L, Vakilzadeh N, Krupka N, Wiest R

Clinical Trials Study

18 Bowel preparation protocol for hospitalized patients ages 50 years or older: A randomized controlled trial He Y, Liu Q, Chen YW, Cui LJ, Cao K, Guo ZH

Observational Study

29 Safety and efficacy of modified endoscopic ultrasound-guided selective N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate injections for gastric variceal hemorrhage in left-sided portal hypertension

Zeng Y, Yang J, Zhang JW

37 Adverse events associated with the gold probe and the injection gold probe devices used for endoscopic hemostasis: A MAUDE database analysis

Kumar VCS, Aloysius M, Aswath G

44 Upper gastrointestinal bleeding in Bangladeshi children: Analysis of 100 cases Mazumder MW, Benzamin M



Contents

World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

Monthly Volume 16 Number 1 January 16, 2024

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, Yasser M Fouad, MD, Professor, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Minia University, Minia 19111, Egypt. yasserfouad10@yahoo.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (WJGE, World J Gastrointest Endosc) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastrointestinal endoscopy with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJGE mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastrointestinal endoscopy and covering a wide range of topics including capsule endoscopy, colonoscopy, double-balloon enteroscopy, duodenoscopy, endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, endosonography, esophagoscopy, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastroscopy, laparoscopy, natural orifice endoscopic surgery, proctoscopy, and sigmoidoscopy.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJGE is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Reference Citation Analysis, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 Edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJGE as 2.0; IF without journal self cites: 1.9; 5-year IF: 3.3; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.28.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yi-Xuan Cai; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ping Yan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1948-5190 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
October 15, 2009	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Anastasios Koulaouzidis, Bing Hu, Sang Chul Lee, JooYoung Cho	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE January 16, 2024	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: office@baishideng.com https://www.wjgnet.com



E WJ

World Journal of **Gastrointestinal** Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 1-4

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.1

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

EDITORIAL

Prospects of polyglycolic acid sheets for the treatment of esophageal stricture after esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection

Qing-Xia Wang, Rui-Hua Shi

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Kawabata H, Japan

Received: September 26, 2023 Peer-review started: September 26, 2023 First decision: December 7, 2023 Revised: December 12, 2023 Accepted: December 29, 2023 Article in press: December 29, 2023 Published online: January 16, 2024



Qing-Xia Wang, Rui-Hua Shi, Department of Gastroenterology, Southeast University Affiliated Zhongda Hospital, Medical School, Nanjing 210009, Jiangsu Province, China

Corresponding author: Rui-Hua Shi, PhD, Department of Gastroenterology, Southeast University Affiliated Zhongda Hospital, Medical School, No. 87 Dingjiaqiao, Nanjing 210009, Jiangsu Province, China. ruihuashi@126.com

Abstract

Esophageal cancer is the seventh most common type of cancer and the sixth leading cause of cancer -related mortality worldwide. Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) is widely used for the resection of early esophageal cancer. However, post-ESD esophageal stricture is a common long-term complication, which requires attention. Patients with post-ESD esophageal stricture often experience dysphagia and require multiple dilatations, which greatly affects their quality of life and increases healthcare costs. Therefore, to manage post-ESD esophageal stricture, researchers are actively exploring various strategies, such as pharmaceutical interventions, endoscopic balloon dilation, and esophageal stenting. Although steroids-based therapy has achieved some success, steroids can lead to complications such as osteoporosis and infection. Meanwhile, endoscopic balloon dilatation is effective in the short term, but is prone to recurrence and perforation. Additionally, esophageal stenting can alleviate the stricture, but is associated with discomfort during stenting and the complication of easy displacement also present challenges. Tissue engineering has evolved rapidly in recent years, and hydrogel materials have good biodegradability and biocompatibility. A novel type of polyglycolic acid (PGA) sheets has been found to be effective in preventing esophageal stricture after ESD, with the advantages of a simple operation and low complication rate. PGA membranes act as a biophysical barrier to cover the wound as well as facilitate the delivery of medications to promote wound repair and healing. However, there is still a lack of multicenter, large-sample randomized controlled clinical studies focused on the treatment of post-ESD esophageal strictures with PGA membrane, which will be a promising direction for future advancements in this field.

Key Words: Polyglycolic acid; Endoscopic submucosal dissection; Esophageal stenosis; Esophageal cancer; Steroids



©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Esophageal cancer is the seventh most common type of cancer and the sixth leading cause of cancer death worldwide. Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) is considered a prominent method for early esophageal cancer resection. However, esophageal stenosis is a common complication of esophageal ESD. A novel hydrogel material, polyglycolic acid sheet, is safe and effective for the prevention of esophageal strictures after ESD.

Citation: Wang QX, Shi RH. Prospects of polyglycolic acid sheets for the treatment of esophageal stricture after esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024; 16(1): 1-4 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v16/i1/1.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.1

INTRODUCTION

Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) has become the preferred treatment method for early esophageal cancer, due to its high rate of lesion resection, which is conducive a more accurate pathological diagnosis after surgery[1]. Additionally, ESD causes lesser damage to patients and facilitating faster postoperative recovery compared to traditional surgery. However, it often involves resection of more than 3/4th of the esophageal mucosa, which frequently leads to postoperative esophageal stenosis[2]. Esophageal stenosis is indeed one of the long-term complications of esophageal ESD, often leading to dysphagia. This condition necessitates multiple endoscopic balloon dilatation (EBDs), considerably affecting patients' quality of life[3].

Currently, various strategies are available for treating esophageal strictures, yet each approach has its limitations. Although the effectiveness of oral steroids is well recognized, they potentially cause systemic side effects, such as osteoporosis, immunosuppression, diabetes, peptic ulcers, and infections[4]. Injection of triamcinolone acetonide (TA) has demonstrated good results, but local injection may injure the muscularis propria resulting in complications, such as delayed perforation[5]. Furthermore, the successful use of self-expanding coated metal stents for the prevention of post-ESD esophageal strictures has been reported; however, these stents are associated with the risks of bleeding, perforation, and migration[6].

In recent years, rapid advancements in tissue engineering have led to the introduction of hydrogel materials with controllable physicochemical properties and biocompatibility [7,8]. Polyglycolic acid (PGA) membranes, a type of hydrogel material, are increasingly being used for preventing post-ESD esophageal strictures [9,10]. Extensive endoscopic resections, often employed for the treatment of early esophageal neoplasia, can result in fibro-inflammatory strictures. The mechanisms behind post-ESD esophageal stricture formation are as follows: (1) Initial secretion of tissue invasive factors; (2) disruption of the protective barrier; and (3) activation of inflammatory pathways; and (4) inflammatory proliferation of myofibroblasts[11,12]. Creating a barrier over large exposed areas of submucosa after resection not only protects it from endoluminal stress factors but also shields the residual submucosa and muscularis propria while serving as a matrix for epithelial cell migration. Among the various wound-protective strategies, PGA sheets have shown the most convincing evidence with a 37.5% stricture rate and excellent safety^[13].

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

PGA membranes serves as a biophysical barrier for covering wounds, as well as it facilitates delivery of medications to promote wound repair and healing[9,10]. Kim et al[14] reported good results in preventing esophageal strictures using PGA patches to cover postoperative defects. Sakaguchi et al[15] evaluated the application of PGA sheets with fibrin glue and found it to be an effective and safe method for preventing post-ESD esophageal stricture and reducing the need for EBDs. Sakaguchi et al[16] suggested that the administration of PGA and basic fibroblast growth factor suppresses myofibroblast activation in the acute phase, thereby preventing esophageal constriction. A randomized controlled trial conducted in 2018 reported a lower postoperative stricture rate (20.5%) with the application of PGA sheets for wound coverage in the coverage group than in the non-covered group[17]. Sakaguchi et al[18] proposed the efficacy of PGA combined with steroid injections for preventing post-ESD esophageal stenosis, revealing a significantly lower stenosis rate with the use of combination therapy than with PGA alone. A study by Iizuka et al[19] suggested that PGA sheets and fibrin glue are promising option for preventing esophageal stricture, showing similar efficacy to that of intralesional steroid injections. Hwang *et al*^[20] reported favorable outcomes, noting that the stricture rate in the PGA group (12.5%) was significantly lower than that of the historical control group (66.7%). Yang et al[21] demonstrated that the combined PGA plus stent placement therapy yielded a lower occurrence and milder severity of post-ESD esophageal stricture than that of stent placement therapy alone in patients with early-stage esophageal cancer. Additionally, a recent study employed a triamcinolone-soaked PGA combined with a fully covered metal stent to prevent stricture after extensive dissection of the esophageal mucosa. The study demonstrated that the method is safe and may decrease the incidence of esophageal stricture and the number of EBD sessions required after large esophageal ESD[22].

However, Iizuka et al[23] suggested that PGA sheets do not reduce the incidence of esophageal strictures after ESD, proposing that potential reasons for this to be premature detachment of the PGA sheets and insufficient follow-up period.

CONCLUSION

A growing number of studies have demonstrated that PGA membranes can significantly reduce the rate of esophageal strictures after esophageal ESD, decrease the number of EBDs needed by patients, and improve their quality of life. Some studies have suggested that the efficacy of PGA membrane in preventing esophageal stricture after ESD is not superior to that of a local TA injection; however, this observation also reinforces the fact that PGA membranes indeed play a role in preventing esophageal stricture. The primary mechanism by which PGA membranes prevent esophageal strictures appears to be the physical protection of the wound, leading to a consequent reduction in inflammatory exudation.

To address the challenge of PGA membranes being easily dislodged numerous researchers have combined PGA membranes with fibrin glue or stent, achieving positive effects. Other researchers have used PGA membranes in combination with TA to prevent stenosis after ESD and have also achieved effective results. These combined treatments can address the shortcomings of monotherapy and enhance overall therapeutic effectiveness, thereby demonstrating the promising application potential of PGA membranes.

In conclusion, PGA sheets are safe and effective in preventing post-ESD esophageal strictures. However, a notable gap exists in the form of multicenter, large-sample randomized controlled clinical studies focusing on the treatment of post-ESD esophageal strictures with PGA membranes. Addressing this gap represents, a promising direction for future development in this field.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

No benefits in any form have been received. All authors declare there are no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wang QX and Shi RH contributed to this paper; Wang QX designed the overall concept and wrote the manuscript; Shi RH contributed to the discussion and design of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Qing-Xia Wang 0000-0002-8091-7681; Rui-Hua Shi 0000-0003-4977-8801.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Ishihara R, Arima M, Iizuka T, Oyama T, Katada C, Kato M, Goda K, Goto O, Tanaka K, Yano T, Yoshinaga S, Muto M, Kawakubo H, Fujishiro M, Yoshida M, Fujimoto K, Tajiri H, Inoue H; Japan Gastroenterological Endoscopy Society Guidelines Committee of ESD/EMR for Esophageal Cancer. Endoscopic submucosal dissection/endoscopic mucosal resection guidelines for esophageal cancer. Dig Endosc 2020; 32: 452-493 [PMID: 32072683 DOI: 10.1111/den.13654]
- Chen M, Dang Y, Ding C, Yang J, Si X, Zhang G. Lesion size and circumferential range identified as independent risk factors for esophageal 2 stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection. Surg Endosc 2020; 34: 4065-4071 [PMID: 31953729 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07368-z]
- 3 Álvarez Delgado A, Pérez García ML. Managing esophageal strictures following endoscopic resection of superficial neoplastic lesions. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2021; 113: 810-812 [PMID: 34818896 DOI: 10.17235/reed.2021.8437/2021]
- Qiu Y, Shi R. Roles of Steroids in Preventing Esophageal Stricture after Endoscopic Resection. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 2019: 4 5380815 [PMID: 31058109 DOI: 10.1155/2019/5380815]
- 5 Takahashi H, Arimura Y, Okahara S, Kodaira J, Hokari K, Tsukagoshi H, Shinomura Y, Hosokawa M. A randomized controlled trial of endoscopic steroid injection for prophylaxis of esophageal stenoses after extensive endoscopic submucosal dissection. BMC Gastroenterol



2015; 15: 1 [PMID: 25609176 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-014-0226-6]

- Shi KD, Ji F. Prophylactic stenting for esophageal stricture prevention after endoscopic submucosal dissection. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 6 23: 931-934 [PMID: 28246466 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i6.931]
- 7 Liu X, Inda ME, Lai Y, Lu TK, Zhao X. Engineered Living Hydrogels. Adv Mater 2022; 34: e2201326 [PMID: 35243704 DOI: 10.1002/adma.202201326]
- Rumon MMH, Akib AA, Sultana F, Moniruzzaman M, Niloy MS, Shakil MS, Roy CK. Self-Healing Hydrogels: Development, Biomedical 8 Applications, and Challenges. Polymers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 36365532 DOI: 10.3390/polym14214539]
- Abe S, Iyer PG, Oda I, Kanai N, Saito Y. Approaches for stricture prevention after esophageal endoscopic resection. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 9 86: 779-791 [PMID: 28713066 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.06.025]
- Zhou XB, Xu SW, Ye LP, Mao XL, Chen YH, Wu JF, Cai Y, Wang Y, Wang L, Li SW. Progress of esophageal stricture prevention after 10 endoscopic submucosal dissection by regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. Regen Ther 2021; 17: 51-60 [PMID: 33997185 DOI: 10.1016/j.reth.2021.01.003]
- Arao M, Ishihara R, Tonai Y, Iwatsubo T, Shichijyo S, Matsuura N, Nakahira H, Yamamoto S, Takeuchi Y, Higashino K, Uedo N, Nakatsuka 11 S. Comparison of ENDO CUT mode and FORCED COAG mode for the formation of stricture after esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection in an in vivo porcine model. Surg Endosc 2018; 32: 2902-2906 [PMID: 29302739 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-017-6000-4]
- Wu R, Fu M, Tao HM, Dong T, Fan WT, Zhao LL, Fan ZN, Liu L. Benign esophageal stricture model construction and mechanism 12 exploration. Sci Rep 2023; 13: 11769 [PMID: 37474710 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-38575-y]
- 13 Sakaguchi Y, Tsuji Y, Ono S, Saito I, Kataoka Y, Takahashi Y, Nakayama C, Shichijo S, Matsuda R, Minatsuki C, Asada-Hirayama I, Niimi K, Kodashima S, Yamamichi N, Fujishiro M, Koike K. Polyglycolic acid sheets with fibrin glue can prevent esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection. Endoscopy 2015; 47: 336-340 [PMID: 25314328 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1390787]
- Kim YJ, Park JC, Chung H, Shin SK, Lee SK, Lee YC. Polyglycolic acid sheet application to prevent esophageal stricture after endoscopic 14 submucosal dissection for recurrent esophageal cancer. Endoscopy 2016; 48: E319-E320 [PMID: 27706540 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-117224]
- Sakaguchi Y, Tsuji Y, Kataoka Y, Saito I, Shichijo S, Minatsuki C, Hirayama I, Niimi K, Ono S, Kodashima S, Yamamichi N, Fujishiro M, 15 Koike K. Polyglycolic Acid Sheets With Fibrin Glue for the Prevention of Postoperative Stricture After Esophageal Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection. Gastrointest Endosc 2015; 81: AB127-AB128. [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.03.037]
- Sakaguchi Y, Tsuji Y, Fujishiro M, Kataoka Y, Takeuchi C, Yakabi S, Saito I, Shichijo S, Minatsuki C, Asada-Hirayama I, Yamaguchi D, 16 Niimi K, Ono S, Kodashima S, Yamamichi N, Koike K. Triamcinolone Injection and Shielding with Polyglycolic Acid Sheets and Fibrin Glue for Postoperative Stricture Prevention after Esophageal Endoscopic Resection: A Pilot Study. Am J Gastroenterol 2016; 111: 581-583 [PMID: 27125718 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2016.60]
- Chai NL, Feng J, Li LS, Liu SZ, Du C, Zhang Q, Linghu EQ. Effect of polyglycolic acid sheet plus esophageal stent placement in preventing 17 esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection in patients with early-stage esophageal cancer: A randomized, controlled trial. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 1046-1055 [PMID: 29531468 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i9.1046]
- Sakaguchi Y, Tsuji Y, Shinozaki T, Ohki D, Mizutani H, Minatsuki C, Niimi K, Yamamichi N, Koike K. Steroid injection and polyglycolic 18 acid shielding to prevent stricture after esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection: a retrospective comparative analysis (with video). Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 92: 1176-1186.e1 [PMID: 32376336 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.04.070]
- T lizuka, D Kikuchi, Y Suzuki, S Hoteya. The shielding method with polyglycolic acid sheets and fibrin glue for preventing esophageal 19 stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection: A historical control study. Diseases of the Esophagus 2018; 31: 181. [DOI: 10.1093/dote/doy089.PS02.208]
- Hwang KB, Lee H, Min YW, Min B, Lee JH, Kim JJ. Clinical efficacy of polyglycolic acid sheet to prevent esophageal stricture after 20 endoscopic submucosal dissection. United European Gastroenterol J 2016; 4: A505 [DOI: 10.1177/2050640616663689]
- Yang Y, Liu C, Hu JH, Lu GX. Polyglycolic acid sheet plus esophageal stent presents with higher efficacy in preventing esophageal stricture 21 post endoscopic submucosal dissection compared with stent placement alone in early-stage esophageal cancer patients. Int J Clin Exp Med 2019: 12: 762-770
- Li L, Linghu E, Chai N, Li Z, Zou J, Du C, Wang X, Xiang J. Efficacy of triamcinolone-soaked polyglycolic acid sheet plus fully covered 22 metal stent for preventing stricture formation after large esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection. Dis Esophagus 2019; 32 [PMID: 30561608 DOI: 10.1093/dote/doy121]
- lizuka T, Kikuchi D, Hoteya S, Kajiyama Y, Kaise M. Polyglycolic acid sheet and fibrin glue for preventing esophageal stricture after 23 endoscopic submucosal dissection: a historical control study. Dis Esophagus 2017; 30: 1-8 [PMID: 28881899 DOI: 10.1093/dote/dox053]



F W J

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 5-10

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.5

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

EDITORIAL

Nomogram to predict gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions: **Clinical significance**

Xu-Peng Wen, Qi-Quan Wan

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Azer S, Saudi Arabia

Received: November 4, 2023 Peer-review started: November 4, 2023 First decision: November 30, 2023 Revised: December 13, 2023 Accepted: December 29, 2023 Article in press: December 29, 2023 Published online: January 16, 2024



Xu-Peng Wen, Department of Critical Care Medicine, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai 200030, China

World Journal of **Gastrointestinal**

Endoscopy

Qi-Quan Wan, Department of Transplant Surgery, The Third Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha 410013, Hunan Province, China

Corresponding author: Qi-Quan Wan, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Transplant Surgery, The Third Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, No. 138 Tongzipo Road, Changsha 410013, Hunan Province, China. 13548685542@163.com

Abstract

Transoral endoscopic resections in treating upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions have the advantages of maintaining the integrity of the gastrointestinal lumen, avoiding perforation and reducing gastrointestinal fistulae. They are becoming more widely used in clinical practice, but, they may also present a variety of complications. Gas-related complications are one of the most common, which can be left untreated if the symptoms are mild, but in severe cases, they can lead to rapid changes in the respiratory and circulatory systems in a short period, which can be life-threatening. Therefore, it is important to predict the occurrence of gas-related complications early and take preventive measures actively. Based on the authors' results in the prepublication of the article "Nomogram to predict gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions," and in conjunction with our evaluation and additions to the relevant content, radiographs may help screen patients at high risk for gas-related complications. Controlling blood glucose levels, shortening the duration of surgery, and choosing the most appropriate surgical resection may positively impact the prognosis of patients at high risk for gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions.

Key Words: Complications; Endoscopy; Upper gastrointestinal tract; Nomogram; Clinical significance

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions is associated with gas-related complications, which are unavoidable and may increase patient burden and prolong the duration of hospitalization. A four-variable nomogram predicts the risk of gas-related complications after transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions, guiding endoscopists during clinical operations.

Citation: Wen XP, Wan QQ. Nomogram to predict gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions: Clinical significance. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2024; 16(1): 5-10 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v16/i1/5.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.5

INTRODUCTION

Here, we comment on the article by Yang *et al*[1] accepted in the recent issue of the *World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*. We focus on the research actuality and clinical significance of the four-variable nomograms, namely diabetes, lesion origin, surgical resection method, and surgical duration for predicting gas-related complications in transoral endoscopic resections. Upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions, as a gastrointestinal disorder, are smooth-surfaced elevated lesions and are common in elderly patients[2]. With the development and maturation of endoscopy and endoscopic ultrasonography examination techniques, as well as the increased health awareness of the population, the detection rate of gastrointestinal submucosal lesions in the digestive tract has increased dramatically[3,4]. Gastrointestinal submucosal lesions are often called subepithelial gastrointestinal lesions (SELs). SELs are an elevated lesion originating in the muscularis mucosae, submucosa, or lamina propria, and can also be extraluminal. Endoscopic techniques are the first line of investigation for the diagnosis of SELs. Recently, a rising number of gastrointestinal submucosal lesions were treated at gastroscopy[5,6]. The American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy and National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines recommend endoscopic surveillance of asymptomatic lesions < 2 cm in diameter. However, larger lesions or those causing significant symptoms require immediate intervention[7].

For endoscopic treatment of SELs, the results of a large epidemiologic study suggested that the difference in diseasespecific morbidity and mortality in patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors < 2 cm in diameter was not statistically significant compared with those treated with surgical resection[8]. Therefore, in conjunction with clinical practice, some patients undergoing endoscopic techniques, an invasive investigation, show poor compliance with follow-up. Eendoscopic treatment can be performed in such patients who are unable to have regular follow-up and have a strong desire for endoscopic treatment. The techniques of transoral endoscopic resection include high-frequency electrocoagulation, endoscopic mucosal resection, endoscopic submucosal excavation, endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD), submucosal tunneling endoscopic resection (STER), and endoscopic full-thickness resection. STER is a new technique developed based on transoral endoscopic esophageal sphincterotomy peroral endoscopic myotomy (POEM), which is also an extension of the ESD technique. The resection rate of SELs treated by STER is 84.9% to 97.5% [9,10].

Irregular tumor morphology, originating from the deep layers of the intrinsic muscular layer, intraoperative air insufflation, and operative time > 60 min are independent risk factors for the occurrence of major postoperative complications[11]. Of the complications that can occur after endoscopic treatment, gas-related complications are more common [12], but most of these complications are mild and can usually be self-absorbed or improved by conservative therapy, and the application of carbon dioxide (CO_2) gas throughout the operation can effectively reduce the severity of gas-related complications[13-15].

The main influencing factors leading to gas-related complications: (1) Depth of intrinsic myotomy; and (2) intra-tunnel pressure. They are mainly caused by gas entering the lumen outside the esophageal wall, entering the mediastinum to form mediastinal emphysema, infiltrating into the subcutaneous tissues to form subcutaneous emphysema, and entering the abdominal and thoracic cavities to form pneumomediastinum and pneumothorax. Usually, mild symptoms do not require treatment, but severe cases can lead to rapid changes in respiratory circulation for a short period, which can be life-threatening. At present, some progress has been made in domestic and international research on the mechanism and factors affecting the occurrence of gas-related complications during endoscopic operations, which may be related to the duration of the disease, previous treatment history, Eckardt's score, S-type esophagus, Ling's staging, the way of establishing the tunnel entrance, the width of the tunnel, the length of the tunnel, the duration of the operation, and the use of the hybrid knife. Many of these factors are still in disagreement[16-18]. It is crucial to predict the occurrence of gas-related complications, and determine the need for intraoperative emergency treatment, such as closed thoracic drainage and peritoneal puncture deflation.

Nomogram, a visual clinical predictive model, provides a scientific basis for clinical decision-making. This nomogram primarily visualizes the results of the regression equation, which is usually used for logistic regression or COX regression to draw multiple line segments in a specific proportion based on the regression results, so that an individual's risk of disease or survival probability can be easily calculated. Researchers have evaluated, validated, and compared risk factors for gas-related complications in the training cohort using univariate and multivariate analyses. Diabetes, lesion origin, surgical resection method, and surgical duration were incorporated into the final nomogram[1].

Raisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

ACTUALITY OF GAS-RELATED COMPLICATIONS DURING TRANSORAL ENDOSCOPIC RESECTION OF UPPER GASTROINTESTINAL SUBMUCOSAL LESIONS

Gas-related complications were the most common complications, including the mediastinum and subcutaneous emphysema, pneumothorax, pneumoperitoneum, and even gas embolism. Currently, CO₂ is mainly used as a gas source for perfusion, which is a natural product of the organism's metabolism and has the characteristics of easy inhalation from the outside and excretion from the body, which can effectively prevent the occurrence of related complications and palpating the skin of the patient's neck. Subcutaneous emphysema is often associated with mediastinal emphysema. On a computed tomography scan performed after the POEM procedure, the rate of capnoperitoneum or subcutaneous emphysema was 30%-57%[20]. A recent review of 19 studies, including approximately 1300 cases of POEM, found an overall incidence of gas-related complications of 36%. Complications were distributed as follows: Pneumoperitoneum 17%, pneumothorax 5%, mediastinal air 4%, and subcutaneous emphysema 10%[21]. In POEM, sigmoid-type esophagus was identified as an independent risk factor for gas-related complications, possibly due to an esophageal twist increasing the pressure into the tunnel[22].

Besides, the main influencing factors leading to gas-related complications: (1) Depth of intrinsic myotomy, and (2) intra-tunnel pressure. Notably, many patients have multiple concurrent gas-related complications, such as pneumothorax and pneumomediastinum. Although the incidence of gas-related complications is relatively high, most of these complications are minor and do not require therapeutic intervention. Using CO_2 instead of air to reduce the risk of gas embolism and pneumothorax is theoretical, as demonstrating a statistical advantage of CO_2 in reducing the incidence of such rare complications is challenging. However, since air aeration can have catastrophic consequences, the use of CO_2 is recommended because transoral endoscopic resection typically destroys large areas of mucous membranes, which normally acts as a barrier to air. Most studies suggest that prolonged CO_2 inflation should be relatively safe for upper and lower gastrointestinal endoscopy in sedated patients with normal respiratory status[12,13,15,23]. Based on autopsy findings, forensic experts found an open blood vessel at the base of a gastric ulcer in a patient who died of air embolism after a gastroscopy and recommended using CO_2 to inflate it. Improved quality of endoscopic recovery is another advantage of CO_2 infusion, which has been demonstrated in many randomized controlled studies only in patients undergoing colonoscopy[24] and endoscopic retrograde cholangio pancreatography[25]. We believe it is reasonable to extrapolate these findings to transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions.

CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF FOUR-VARIABLE NOMOGRAM FOR PREDICTING GAS-RELATED COMPLICATIONS IN TRANSORAL ENDOSCOPIC RESECTIONS

Currently, there are no reliable prediction models for predicting major gas-related complications in patients with transoral endoscopic resections. Although several studies have developed nomograms to predict other complications in patients with transoral endoscopic resections, most are limited to predicting stenosis[26-28].

Therefore, in this study, the researchers retrospectively analyzed clinical data from 353 patients to identify predictors of gas-related complications in patients undergoing transoral endoscopic resection. The results showed that diabetes, lesion origin, surgical resection method and duration were independent predictors associated with gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions.

Patients with diabetes mellitus (DM). DM is a chronic metabolic disorder in which prolonged episodes of hyperglycemia are common. Hyperglycemia can cause impairment and disruption of the normal function of many organs, including the gastrointestinal tract[29]. The pathogenesis of gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection in DM is complex, multi-factorial with motor dysfunction, glycemic control, autonomic neuropathy, and psychological factors, and is not well understood[30]. Previous studies have shown that the morphology and biomechanical properties of the gastrointestinal tract change during diabetes, such as increased wall thickness and hardness of the gastrointestinal tract[31]. The changes in stress distribution and wall stiffness likely alter the stress after the stop the way the mechanosensitive afferents. Consequently, the perception and motility of the intestinal tract will change as well. Therefore, the morphological changes and biomechanical remodeling are likely to affect function of mechanosensitive afferents in the gastrointestinal wall and further affect the motor and sensory function[32]. Some studies confirms that type 2 diabetes is an independent risk factor for esophageal foreign body perforation[33]. The underlying mechanism of diabetes-induced esophageal foreign body perforation may lie in impaired wound healing and neuropathy in DM patients. Neuropathy can cause abnormal esophageal movement in most people with diabetes, sometimes similar to diffuse esophageal spasm[33]. As the disease progresses, some minor injuries caused by foreign bodies tend to be repaired in non-diabetic patients, whereas diabetic patients are more prone to worsening injuries and a tendency to persistent stagnation, which may lead to serious complications such as gas-related complications or perforation and exacerbation of the disease. In part, this is the result of neuropathy. Therefore, future studies target neuropathy associated with diabetes. For example, we may be able to obtain data on the patient's glycosylated hemoglobin before the procedure, which could help determine whether poor glycemic control in diabetic patients increases the risk of gas-related complications or perforation.

Concerning lesion origin. Regarding the overall incidence of adverse complications, the prevalence was higher in esophagoscopy patients than in gastroduodenoscopy patients. Endoscopic procedure-related morbidity (*i.e.*, pneumo-mediastinum and subcutaneous emphysema) is the main reason for the differences shown, which may be related to

Raisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

anatomical features such as lack of serosa in the esophagus and thin intestinal wall. The development of extended subcutaneous emphysema has been reported to be an enhancing factor for CO_2 retention during laparoscopic surgery and requires immediate attention to determine the presence of pneumothorax or pneumomediastinum, especially when the endoscopic procedure involves the chest[34]. In this case, patients with ESD require more careful attention. Some studies have shown that increases in PaCO₂ and the prevalence of adverse events were greater in patients undergoing esophagoscopy than in those undergoing gastroduodenoscopy[35]. As things stand, it is uncertain whether the degree of CO_2 retention may be different with different targeted organs for endoscopy.

Concerning surgical resection method. The incidence of gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection varies significantly depending on the surgical method. The main influencing factor leading to gas-related complications is the depth of myometrium propria incision. Due to the lack of serosal layer in the esophagus, to reduce the occurrence of gas-related complications, in early POEM, it is recommended to only incise the circular muscles to avoid damaging the longitudinal muscles. However, this method is less effective for some patients with severe symptoms [36]. To ensure long-term patient outcomes, a clinical study of more than 2000 POEM surgeries showed that total myotomy, namely total incision of the circular and longitudinal muscles from the stenosis to the subcardia, not only did it not increase the number of gas-related complications, but also significantly shortened the operative time compared with simple circular myotomy^[22]. But subsequent studies have confirmed that the incidence of postoperative gastroesophageal reflux is higher with this method. Another influencing factor is the pressure inside the tunnel. To ensure tunnel expansion during surgery, the gas must be fed continuously. If the gas accumulates excessively in the tunnel, the increased pressure inside the tunnel will cause the gas to flow into the mediastinum through the airspace and lead to the accumulation of gas, which then enters the subcutaneous tissues. At present, the inverted T-shaped tunnel opening method has been established, i.e., the first transverse incision is 0.5-0.8 cm, and then a longitudinal incision of about 1.0 cm is made at the anus side edge of the transverse opening, which on the one hand ensures that there is enough space in the surgical incision for the mirror to be easily accessed and for the gas and liquid to be smoothly discharged[37]. On the other hand, with a small transverse span, it is relatively easy to close the incision. on the other hand, the transverse span is small, so it is relatively easy to close the incision[37,38]. Simple longitudinal incision of the tunnel entrance will result in the endoscope being tightly encircled by the mucosa at the exit, and prolonged poor gas injection and drainage will keep the gas in the tunnel under high pressure, making it susceptible to gas-related complications^[23]. Besides, during full myotomy, the integrity of the outer esophageal membrane should be preserved as much as possible.

Concerning surgical duration. The gastrointestinal tract rapidly absorbs CO_2 , so prolonged surgical durations can still lead to gas-related complications. The duration of transoral endoscopic resections may be affected by various resection devices, traction techniques, and even submucosal injection of materials, which may further affect the results[39]. In addition, some studies have suggested that lesion fibrosis may alter transoral endoscopic resections duration[39,40]. As the duration of surgery increases, the rate of gas-related complications becomes higher and more severe. Second, it is worth considering whether the endoscopist's experience level is related to the duration of transoral endoscopic resections and ultimately, whether it leads to gas-related complications.

LIMITATIONS OF FOUR-VARIABLE NOMOGRAM FOR PREDICTING GAS-RELATED COMPLICATIONS IN TRANSORAL ENDOSCOPIC RESECTIONS

We acknowledged the limitations in the present study. First, while their four-variable nomogram showed promise, its performance could potentially be improved by incorporating additional clinical variables, such as presence of previous treatment history, how the tunnel portal is established and narrowness of the tunnel. A history of preoperative treatments such as: Dilation, surgery, which can cause adhesions in the submucosal layer and increase the difficulty of tunnel creation. Simple longitudinal incision of the tunnel entrance will result in the endoscope being tightly encircled by the mucosa at the exit, and prolonged poor gas injection and drainage will keep the gas in the tunnel under high pressure, making it susceptible to gas-related complications[23]. Additionally, the corresponding performance comparison against other well-established models is warranted. In future studies, many experiments are needed to further search for possible biomarkers to better predict the occurrence of gas-related complications in transoral endoscopic resections.

CONCLUSION

In summary, using a nomogram incorporating surgical duration, method of surgical resection, DM, and the lesion layer of origin to predict gas-related complications in transoral endoscopic resections is recognizable. Theoretically, a patient's preoperative gas intolerance may be a marker for the development of postoperative gas-related symptoms. Perioperative risk can be reduced through early prevention and intervention. However, there are many factors contributing to the development of gas-related complications during surgery, possibly involving the patient, anesthesia, and surgery, and the influence of these factors can continue to be investigated, and the predictive value can be confirmed by expanding the sample size. Future studies should evaluate the clinical value of preoperative gas provocation tests.

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wan QQ designed the overall concept and outline of the manuscript; Wen XP contributed to the discussion and design of the manuscript; all authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Xu-Peng Wen 0000-0003-3136-4264; Qi-Quan Wan 0000-0001-6439-1408.

S-Editor: Qu XL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Qu XL

REFERENCES

- 1 Yang J, Chen ZG, Yi XL, Chen J, Chen L. Nomogram to predict gas-related complications during transoral endoscopic resection of upper gastrointestinal submucosal lesions. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 15: 649-657 [PMID: 38073760 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i11.649]
- 2 McCarty TR, Ryou M. Endoscopic diagnosis and management of gastric subepithelial lesions. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2020; 36: 530-537 [PMID: 32889821 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000674]
- Standards of Practice Committee, Faulx AL, Kothari S, Acosta RD, Agrawal D, Bruining DH, Chandrasekhara V, Eloubeidi MA, Fanelli 3 RD, Gurudu SR, Khashab MA, Lightdale JR, Muthusamy VR, Shaukat A, Qumseya BJ, Wang A, Wani SB, Yang J, DeWitt JM. The role of endoscopy in subepithelial lesions of the GI tract. Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 85: 1117-1132 [PMID: 28385194 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.02.022]
- Aghdassi A, Christoph A, Dombrowski F, Döring P, Barth C, Christoph J, Lerch MM, Simon P. Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors: Clinical 4 Symptoms, Location, Metastasis Formation, and Associated Malignancies in a Single Center Retrospective Study. Dig Dis 2018; 36: 337-345 [PMID: 29870973 DOI: 10.1159/000489556]
- Huang K, Zhao X, Chen X, Gao Y, Yu J, Wu L. Analysis of Digestive Endoscopic Results During COVID-19. J Transl Int Med 2021; 9: 38-5 42 [PMID: 33850800 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2021-0006]
- Wang J, Zhao Y, Li P, Zhang S. Advances in The Application of Regenerative Medicine in Prevention of Post-endoscopic Submucosal 6 Dissection for Esophageal Stenosis. J Transl Int Med 2022; 10: 28-35 [PMID: 35702182 DOI: 10.2478/jtim-2022-0011]
- 7 ASGE standards of practice committee, Forbes N, Elhanafi SE, Al-Haddad MA, Thosani NC, Draganov PV, Othman MO, Ceppa EP, Kaul V, Feely MM, Sahin I, Buxbaum JL, Calderwood AH, Chalhoub JM, Coelho-Prabhu N, Desai M, Fujii-Lau LL, Kohli DR, Kwon RS, Machicado JD, Marya NB, Pawa S, Ruan W, Sheth SG, Storm AC, Thiruvengadam NR, Qumseya BJ; (ASGE Standards of Practice Committee Chair). American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy guideline on endoscopic submucosal dissection for the management of early esophageal and gastric cancers: summary and recommendations. Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 98: 271-284 [PMID: 37498266 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2023.03.015]
- Coe TM, Fero KE, Fanta PT, Mallory RJ, Tang CM, Murphy JD, Sicklick JK. Population-Based Epidemiology and Mortality of Small 8 Malignant Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors in the USA. J Gastrointest Surg 2016; 20: 1132-1140 [PMID: 27025710 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-016-3134-y]
- 9 Cao B, Lu J, Tan Y, Liu D. Efficacy and safety of submucosal tunneling endoscopic resection for gastric submucosal tunners: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2021; 113: 52-59 [PMID: 33222480 DOI: 10.17235/reed.2020.6989/2020]
- Dalal I, Andalib I. Advances in endoscopic resection: a review of endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD), endoscopic full thickness resection (EFTR) and submucosal tunneling endoscopic resection (STER). Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 7: 19 [PMID: 35548477 DOI: 10.21037/tgh-2020-10]
- Grozinsky-Glasberg S, Alexandraki KI, Angelousi A, Chatzellis E, Sougioultzis S, Kaltsas G. Gastric Carcinoids. Endocrinol Metab Clin 11 North Am 2018; 47: 645-660 [PMID: 30098721 DOI: 10.1016/j.ecl.2018.04.013]
- Chen T, Zhou PH, Chu Y, Zhang YQ, Chen WF, Ji Y, Yao LQ, Xu MD. Long-term Outcomes of Submucosal Tunneling Endoscopic 12 Resection for Upper Gastrointestinal Submucosal Tumors. Ann Surg 2017; 265: 363-369 [PMID: 28059965 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000001650
- Xu MD, Cai MY, Zhou PH, Qin XY, Zhong YS, Chen WF, Hu JW, Zhang YQ, Ma LL, Qin WZ, Yao LQ. Submucosal tunneling endoscopic 13 resection: a new technique for treating upper GI submucosal tumors originating from the muscularis propria layer (with videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 75: 195-199 [PMID: 22056087 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.08.018]
- 14 Hirai F, Beppu T, Nishimura T, Takatsu N, Ashizuka S, Seki T, Hisabe T, Nagahama T, Yao K, Matsui T, Nakashima R, Inada N, Tajiri E, Mitsuru H, Shigematsu H. Carbon dioxide insufflation compared with air insufflation in double-balloon enteroscopy: a prospective, randomized, double-blind trial. Gastrointest Endosc 2011; 73: 743-749 [PMID: 21237455 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.10.003]
- Yamano HO, Yoshikawa K, Kimura T, Yamamoto E, Harada E, Kudou T, Katou R, Hayashi Y, Satou K. Carbon dioxide insufflation for 15 colonoscopy: evaluation of gas volume, abdominal pain, examination time and transcutaneous partial CO2 pressure. J Gastroenterol 2010; 45: 1235-1240 [PMID: 20635100 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-010-0286-5]
- 16 Sanaka MR, Hayat U, Thota PN, Jegadeesan R, Ray M, Gabbard SL, Wadhwa N, Lopez R, Baker ME, Murthy S, Raja S. Efficacy of peroral



endoscopic myotomy vs other achalasia treatments in improving esophageal function. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; **22**: 4918-4925 [PMID: 27239118 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i20.4918]

- Gonzalez JM, Benezech A, Barthet M. Complications of submucosal endoscopy. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2016; 30: 783-791
 [PMID: 27931636 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2016.10.015]
- 18 Chen T, Zhang C, Yao LQ, Zhou PH, Zhong YS, Zhang YQ, Chen WF, Li QL, Cai MY, Chu Y, Xu MD. Management of the complications of submucosal tunneling endoscopic resection for upper gastrointestinal submucosal tumors. *Endoscopy* 2016; 48: 149-155 [PMID: 26517846 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1393244]
- 19 Ujiki MB, Yetasook AK, Zapf M, Linn JG, Carbray JM, Denham W. Peroral endoscopic myotomy: A short-term comparison with the standard laparoscopic approach. *Surgery* 2013; **154**: 893-7; discussion 897 [PMID: 24074429 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2013.04.042]
- 20 Yang S, Zeng MS, Zhang ZY, Zhang HL, Liang L, Zhang XW. Pneumomediastinum and pneumoperitoneum on computed tomography after peroral endoscopic myotomy (POEM): postoperative changes or complications? *Acta Radiol* 2015; 56: 1216-1221 [PMID: 25277388 DOI: 10.1177/0284185114551399]
- 21 **Crespin OM**, Liu LWC, Parmar A, Jackson TD, Hamid J, Shlomovitz E, Okrainec A. Safety and efficacy of POEM for treatment of achalasia: a systematic review of the literature. *Surg Endosc* 2017; **31**: 2187-2201 [PMID: 27633440 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-016-5217-y]
- Li QL, Chen WF, Zhou PH, Yao LQ, Xu MD, Hu JW, Cai MY, Zhang YQ, Qin WZ, Ren Z. Peroral endoscopic myotomy for the treatment of achalasia: a clinical comparative study of endoscopic full-thickness and circular muscle myotomy. J Am Coll Surg 2013; 217: 442-451 [PMID: 23891074 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.04.033]
- Akintoye E, Kumar N, Obaitan I, Alayo QA, Thompson CC. Peroral endoscopic myotomy: a meta-analysis. *Endoscopy* 2016; 48: 1059-1068 [PMID: 27617421 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-114426]
- 24 Bretthauer M, Lynge AB, Thiis-Evensen E, Hoff G, Fausa O, Aabakken L. Carbon dioxide insufflation in colonoscopy: safe and effective in sedated patients. *Endoscopy* 2005; 37: 706-709 [PMID: 16032487 DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-870154]
- 25 Bretthauer M, Seip B, Aasen S, Kordal M, Hoff G, Aabakken L. Carbon dioxide insufflation for more comfortable endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography: a randomized, controlled, double-blind trial. *Endoscopy* 2007; **39**: 58-64 [PMID: 17252462 DOI: 10.1055/s-2006-945036]
- 26 Li X, Xing J, Li P, Xie S, Lin Q, Zhang Q, Zhang S. A nomogram and risk classification system predicting esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection of a large area for early esophageal cancer. *J Surg Oncol* 2023; 127: 568-577 [PMID: 36537007 DOI: 10.1002/jso.27172]
- 27 Yang G, Mu Z, Pu K, Chen Y, Zhang L, Zhou H, Luo P, Zhang X. A reliable nomogram model for predicting esophageal stricture after endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2022; 101: e28741 [PMID: 35119025 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000028741]
- Hsiao SW, Chen MW, Yang CW, Lin KH, Chen YY, Kor CT, Huang SP, Yen HH. A Nomogram for Predicting Laparoscopic and Endoscopic Cooperative Surgery during the Endoscopic Resection of Subepithelial Tumors of the Upper Gastrointestinal Tract. *Diagnostics (Basel)* 2021;
 11 [PMID: 34829507 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics11112160]
- 29 Cole JB, Florez JC. Genetics of diabetes mellitus and diabetes complications. Nat Rev Nephrol 2020; 16: 377-390 [PMID: 32398868 DOI: 10.1038/s41581-020-0278-5]
- 30 Reszczyńska M, Kempiński R. The Prevalence of Enteropathy Symptoms from the Lower Gastrointestinal Tract and the Evaluation of Anorectal Function in Diabetes Mellitus Patients. J Clin Med 2021; 10 [PMID: 33499216 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10030415]
- Sasor A, Ohlsson B. Microangiopathy is common in submucosal vessels of the colon in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Rev Diabet Stud* 2014; 11: 175-180 [PMID: 25396405 DOI: 10.1900/RDS.2014.11.175]
- 32 Chen PM, Gregersen H, Zhao JB. Advanced glycation end-product expression is upregulated in the gastrointestinal tract of type 2 diabetic rats. World J Diabetes 2015; 6: 662-672 [PMID: 25987965 DOI: 10.4239/wjd.v6.i4.662]
- **Zhang S**, Wen J, Du M, Liu Y, Zhang L, Chu X, Xue Z. Diabetes is an independent risk factor for delayed perforation after foreign bodies impacted in esophagus in adults. *United European Gastroenterol J* 2018; **6**: 1136-1143 [PMID: 30288275 DOI: 10.1177/2050640618784344]
- 34 Pacilli M, Pierro A, Kingsley C, Curry JI, Herod J, Eaton S. Absorption of carbon dioxide during laparoscopy in children measured using a novel mass spectrometric technique. Br J Anaesth 2006; 97: 215-219 [PMID: 16720671 DOI: 10.1093/bja/ael134]
- 35 Suzuki T, Minami H, Komatsu T, Masusda R, Kobayashi Y, Sakamoto A, Sato Y, Inoue H, Serada K. Prolonged carbon dioxide insufflation under general anesthesia for endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Endoscopy* 2010; 42: 1021-1029 [PMID: 21120775 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1255969]
- 36 Youn YH, Minami H, Chiu PW, Park H. Peroral Endoscopic Myotomy for Treating Achalasia and Esophageal Motility Disorders. J Neurogastroenterol Motil 2016; 22: 14-24 [PMID: 26717928 DOI: 10.5056/jnm15191]
- 37 Chai NL, Li HK, Linghu EQ, Li ZS, Zhang ST, Bao Y, Chen WG, Chiu PW, Dang T, Gong W, Han ST, Hao JY, He SX, Hu B, Huang XJ, Huang YH, Jin ZD, Khashab MA, Lau J, Li P, Li R, Liu DL, Liu HF, Liu J, Liu XG, Liu ZG, Ma YC, Peng GY, Rong L, Sha WH, Sharma P, Sheng JQ, Shi SS, Seo DW, Sun SY, Wang GQ, Wang W, Wu Q, Xu H, Xu MD, Yang AM, Yao F, Yu HG, Zhou PH, Zhang B, Zhang XF, Zhai YQ. Consensus on the digestive endoscopic tunnel technique. *World J Gastroenterol* 2019; 25: 744-776 [PMID: 30809078 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i7.744]
- 38 Li HK, Linghu EQ. New endoscopic classification of achalasia for selection of candidates for peroral endoscopic myotomy. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 556-560 [PMID: 23382636 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i4.556]
- 39 Ma LY, Liu ZQ, Yao L, Xu MD, Chen SY, Zhong YS, Zhang YQ, Chen WF, Ma LL, Qin WZ, Hu JW, Cai MY, Yao LQ, Li QL, Zhou PH. Endoscopic resection of upper GI extraluminal tumors (with videos). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2022; 96: 752-763.e6 [PMID: 35724694 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2022.06.020]
- 40 Dinc B, Gunduz UR, Belen NH. Transoral Endoscopic Thyroidectomy Vestibular Approach (TOETVA) in Thyroiditis. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2020; 31: 188-192 [PMID: 32956332 DOI: 10.1097/SLE.00000000000864]

Raisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

F WÛ

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 11-17

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.11

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Case Control Study Propofol sedation in routine endoscopy: A case series comparing target controlled infusion vs manually controlled bolus concept

Riad Sarraj, Lorenz Theiler, Nima Vakilzadeh, Niklas Krupka, Reiner Wiest

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Christodoulidis G, Greece; Sun SY, China

Received: August 17, 2023 Peer-review started: August 17, 2023 First decision: September 13, 2023 Revised: September 27, 2023 Accepted: December 6, 2023 Article in press: December 6, 2023 Published online: January 16, 2024



Riad Sarraj, Niklas Krupka, Reiner Wiest, Department of Visceral Surgery and Medicine, Inselspital University Hospital, Bern 3010, Switzerland

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal*

Endoscopy

Lorenz Theiler, Clinic for Anesthesia, Perioperative, Emergency & Intensive Care Medicine, Kantonsspital Aarau, Aarau 5001, Switzerland

Nima Vakilzadeh, Department of Nephrology and Hypertension, University Hospital Lausanne, Lausanne 1011, Switzerland

Corresponding author: Riad Sarraj, MD, Attending Doctor, Department of Visceral Surgery and Medicine, Inselspital University Hospital, Freiburgstrasse 18, Bern 3010, Switzerland. riad.sarraj@insel.ch

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Many studies have addressed safety and effectiveness of non-anaesthesiologist propofol sedation (NAPS) for gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy Target controlled infusion (TCI) is claimed to provide an optimal sedation regimen by avoiding under- or oversedation.

AIM

To assess safety and performance of propofol TCI sedation in comparison with nurse-administered bolus-sedation.

METHODS

Fouty-five patients undergoing endoscopy under TCI propofol sedation were prospectively included from November 2016 to May 2017 and compared to 87 patients retrospectively included that underwent endoscopy with NAPS. Patients were matched for age and endoscopic procedure. We recorded time of sedation and endoscopy, dosage of medication and adverse events.

RESULTS

There was a significant reduction in dose per time of propofol administered in the TCI group, compared to the NAPS group $(8.2 \pm 2.7 \text{ mg/min } vs 9.3 \pm 3.4 \text{ mg/min};$ P = 0.046). The time needed to provide adequate sedation levels was slightly but significantly lower in the control group (5.3 \pm 2.7 min vs 7.7 \pm 3.3 min; P < 0.001), nonetheless the total endoscopy time was similar in both groups. No differences between TCI and bolus-sedation was observed for mean total-dosage of propofol



Sarraj R et al. Propofol sedation target controlled infusion

rate as well as adverse events.

CONCLUSION

This study indicates that sedation using TCI for GI endoscopy reduces the dose of propofol necessary per minute of endoscopy. This may translate into less adverse events. However, further and randomized trials need to confirm this trend.

Key Words: Sedation; Endoscopy; Propofol; Target controlled infusion; Non-anaesthesiologist propofol sedation; Adverse event

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: First, target controlled infusion (TCI) is claimed to provide an optimal sedation regimen. Secondly, little is known about the differences of time of sedation and propofol dosage between nurse-administered intermittent bolus propofol sedation and TCI. Thirdly, sedation using TCI for gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy reduces the dose of propofol necessary per minute of endoscopy (8.2 ± 2.7 mg/min vs 9.3 ± 3.4 mg/min; P = 0.046). Fourthly, sedation using TCI for GI endoscopy could have an impact on propofol total dosage on prolonged endoscopy procedures. Fifthly, this may translate into less adverse events and higher safety when using TCI in prolonged procedures.

Citation: Sarraj R, Theiler L, Vakilzadeh N, Krupka N, Wiest R. Propofol sedation in routine endoscopy: A case series comparing target controlled infusion vs manually controlled bolus concept. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024; 16(1): 11-17 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v16/i1/11.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.11

INTRODUCTION

Many studies have addressed the safety and effectiveness of non-anaesthesiologist propofol sedation (NAPS) for gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy[1-5]. A high dose of propofol has been recognized as an independent risk factor for sedation-related complications[6]. For the safe use of propofol during endoscopic procedures performed by nonanaesthesiologists, controlled comparisons between different methods of propofol administration are still needed.

One of the most frequent methods of propofol sedation in GI endoscopy is manual administration of boluses. This method may be sub optimal during long-lasting endoscopies[7]. Target Controlled Infusion (TCI) is a delivery system with an infusion mode that uses pharmacokinetic models (based on age, sex, height, weight and dosing history in the individual patient) to calculate infusion rates required to reach and maintain a desired target concentration in the target tissue of the brain. Ultimately, the system is claimed to provide a calculated optimal sedation regimen hence avoiding under- or oversedation[8-10].

The aim of the present study was to assess safety and performance, in terms of time of sedation and dosage of propofol during TCI sedation in comparison with nurse-administered intermittent bolus propofol sedation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study cohort

Forty-five consecutive patients undergoing endoscopy under TCI propofol sedation were prospectively included from November 2016 to May 2017. These were compared to a historic cohort of sex and age-matched patients that underwent endoscopy with bolus-sedation (n = 80). These comparator patients were matched for type endoscopic procedure. Exclusion criteria were age under 18 years; pregnant and lactating women; American Society of Anaesthesiologists class IV; allergy to propofol, fentanyl, or benzodiazepine; and anticipated difficult airway.

Endoscopic procedures

Hospital faculty experienced endoscopists performed all endoscopic procedures in Table 1. Physical monitoring included heart rate, peripheral arterial oxygen saturation, and non-invasive blood pressure being monitored and recorded continuously with a bedside monitor. Blood pressure was recorded every 2 min. All patients received oxygen 2 L/min via nasal cannula throughout the procedure.

Drug administration and endpoint evaluation

Propofol was administered intravenously by using the Module Dependable Process Station TCI system (Fresenius Kabi, Bad Homburg, German) using the pharmacokinetic parameter set according to the Schnider model. The initial setting of the target blood concentration of propofol was set at 2.0 mg/mL. The predicted brain tissue concentration of propofol at



Table 1 Endoscopy list [n (%)]			
Endoscopy	Bolus (<i>n</i> = 80)	TCI (<i>n</i> = 45)	
Gastroscopy	7 (8.7)	3 (6.6)	
Colonoscopy	18 (22.5)	9 (20.0)	
Gastro/Colo	30 (37.5)	18 (40.0)	
EUS	20 (25.0)	12 (26.7)	
ERCP	5 (6.3)	3 (6.7)	

TCI: Target controlled infusion; EUS: Endosonography ; ERCP: Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

each time point was calculated automatically and was shown on the monitor of the TCI pump. The primary plasma target concentration was set at 1.5 g/mL with the possibility to increase the target by 0.3 g/mL every two minutes to a maximum of 3.5 g/mL. this adjustment was made upon the patients response based on the Observers Assessment of Alertness/Sedation (OAA/S) score[11].

Historic comparator sedation protocol: Manual sedation was following the "20/2 rule" [12] with an induction bolus dose of 0.5-1.0 mg/kg of propofol (Disoprivan 1%) followed by titration of maximum 20 mg every 2 min. Low doses of fentanyl bolus (25-100 g) could be added at the discretion of the endoscopist in both sedation regimens.

Once patient lost verbal command and eyelash reflex (OAA/S scores < 2) endoscopy was started. The induction period was defined as the time from the start of propofol infusion to insertion of the endoscope. The procedure time was defined as the time of the first endoscope insertion until endoscope removal.

Adverse events

Adverse events were defined as hypoxemia (peripheral oxygen saturation less than 90 %), hypotension (drop of mean arterial pressure below 60 mmHg), bradycardia (drop heart rate below 50 beats per minute for more than 1 min), and tachycardia (rise of heart rate above 110 beats per minute for more than 1 min). If hypoxemia occurred during the sedation, we performed chin lift on the patient and increased the oxygen dose.

Primary endpoint

The primary endpoint of the study was the consumption of propofol (mg) during endoscopy evaluated as dose (mg) per time (min).

Secondary endpoints include time of induction, total sedation time and safety regarding adverse events during sedation. The primary hypothesis stated that the use of TCI sedation would decrease the use of propofol over time and therefore be associated with a safer sedation.

Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed with Stata 12.0. Results are presented as mean ± (SD). Differences between groups were calculated with Student's t-test, Wilcoxon rank sum test and Chi² test whenever appropriate. A value of P < 0.05 was regarded as significant.

RESULTS

All patients successfully underwent smooth procedures and no severe adverse event occurred. The demographic characteristics of the study participants did not show significant differences between the TCI group and the control group with respect to sex (female: 57% vs 43%; P = 0.67) and median age (55.9 vs 56.2; P = 0.17).

Endoscopy characteristics are shown in Table 1 and did not differ significantly between groups (P = 0.55).

The average total propofol consumption did not significantly differ between the groups ($378.6 \pm 213.1 \text{ mg } vs 340.07 \pm 213.1 \text{ mg} vs 340.07$ 150.07 mg; P = 0.59). However, there was a significant reduction in dose per time of propofol administered in the TCI group, compared to the bolus group (8.2 ± 2.7 mg/min vs 9.3 ± 3.4 mg/min; P = 0.046, Figure 1).

The time needed to provide proper sedation level was slightly but statistically significantly lower in the control group $(5.3 \pm 2.7 \text{ min } vs 7.7 \pm 3.3 \text{ min; } P < 0.01)$. Nonetheless, the total endoscopy time was not different (42.3 ± 19.3 min vs 43.5 ± 18.2 min; P = 0.57).

There were no significant differences in the number of interventions utilizing fentanyl (71.2% vs 73.3% P = 0.8). However, average dose of fentanyl being used was significantly less in the TCI as compared to the control group (59.14 ± 28.37ug *vs* 36.67 ± 16.52 g; *P* 0.01).

No difference between bolus-sedation and TCI was observed for the rate of adverse events (26% vs 24%; P = 0.95, Table 2).

We ran a subgroup analysis with either short (less than 30 min) or long (more than 1 h) exams, for which results are shown in Tables 3 and 4. We found no significant reduction of dosage per time in favour of the TCI group looking at longer exams ($8.94 \pm 3.21 \text{ mg/min } vs 6.82 \pm 2.44 \text{ mg/min; } P = 0.08$, Figure 2). A reduction in total propofol dose in favour



Sarraj R et al. Propofol sedation target controlled infusion

Table 2 Number and percentage of adverse events [n (%)]			
	Bolus (<i>n</i> = 80)	TCI (<i>n</i> = 45)	<i>P</i> value
Total adverse events	21 (26.0)	11 (24.0)	0.95
Hypoxemia	3 (14.4)	4 (36.4)	
Hypotension	10 (47.6)	5 (45.4)	
Bradycardia	4 (19.0)	2 (18.2)	
Tachycardia	4 (19.0)	0	

TCI: Target controlled infusion.

Table 3 Subgroup analysis according to duration of endoscopy: Short endoscopy < 30 min				
Variable (mean ± SD)	Bolus (<i>n</i> = 21)	TCI (<i>n</i> = 10)	Delta	P value
Induction time (min)	4.81 ± 1.67	5.8 ± 1.81	0.99	0.11
Total time (min)	20.62 ± 6.49	21 ± 4.71	0.38	0.65
Total dose (mg)	198.1 ± 69.19	204.4 ± 74.23	6.3	0.81
Dose/time (mg/min)	10.14 ± 3.25	9.87 ± 3.58	0.27	0.58

TCI: Target controlled infusion.

Table 4 Subgroup analysis according to duration of endoscopy: Long endoscopy > 60 min				
Variable (mean ± SD)	Bolus (<i>n</i> = 13)	TCI (<i>n</i> = 9)	Delta	P value
Induction time (min)	6.08 ± 5.15	9.44 ± 3.50	3.36	< 0.01
Total time (min)	73.30 ± 14.29	69.89 ± 8.95	3.41	0.89
Total dose (mg)	656.15 ± 291.42	484.67 ± 200.02	71.48	0.27
Dose/time (mg/min)	8.94 ± 3.21	6.82 ± 2.44	2.12	0.08

TCI: Target controlled infusion.





Snishideng® WJGE https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.11 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2024.

Figure 2 Propofol dose/time (mg/min) over sedation time. TCI: Target controlled infusion.

of the TCI group was observed looking at longer exams; this did not reach statistical significance ($656.15 \pm 291.42 vs 484.67 \pm 200.02$; P = 0.27).

DISCUSSION

Propofol has been widely accepted as an ideal agent for endoscopy sedation because of the rapid onset of action and short recovery time[1,2]. However, propofol may cause cardiorespiratory inhibition necessitating providing of cardiorespiratory support with a ventilator until propofol is metabolized because there are no antagonists available. Thus, it is necessary to keep a balance between adequate sedation depth and minimized adverse effects. Intermittent bolus and continuous infusion are both alternatives for administration of propofol. However, the great variation in individual responses to propofol may be an important concern regarding safety during endoscopies[13].

During time-consuming endoscopic procedures, it may be difficult to obtain the optimal titration of drugs without increasing the risks of severe hypoxia, prolonged sedation and patient discharge after procedure[14].

Among different systems available for propofol administration, TCI uses a pharmacokinetic model to achieve and maintain a selected target plasma propofol concentration, through variation of the infusion rate, with a good predictive performance[8]. Previous studies on the use of TCI-based propofol administration demonstrated its feasibility and help in avoiding over- or under-sedation GI endoscopy[9,10]. Specifically, TCI-administered propofol sedation has been reported to achieve higher endoscopists satisfaction score, faster recovery of patients and more stable hemodynamic and respiratory conditions during endoscopy than manual infusion regimens particularly in hands of unexperienced training anaesthesiologists[15-17].

TCI-based propofol sedation has been evaluated in large series of various endoscopic procedures demonstrating safety and benefits[18,19].

The results of our study indicate that sedation using TCI for GI endoscopy reduces the dose of propofol necessary per minute of endoscopy. All procedures were carried out successfully and both methods of sedation were associated with adequate clinical sedation levels.

The occurrence of adverse events (around 25% in both groups) may seem high. However, we used very sensitive and conservative cut-offs to define adverse events, most of which were not severe or even life threatening. It is important to emphasie that our cohort didn't include any patients who would have increased risk for and/or require per se a higher dosage of propofol known as confounding factors such as: Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis, IV Drug users, bad experience in pervious endoscopy, patients with severe pain syndromes and/or being on opiates.

We also ran a subgroup analysis with either short (less than 30 min) or long (more than 1 h) exams, expecting to find better results with longer endoscopy procedure.

The analysis is therefore based on fewer results and the results did not reach statistical significance, but we found a trend tend towards reduction of dosage per time (2.12 mg/min) in favour of the TCI group. It may also be interesting to note that a reduction of total propofol dose of approximatively 170 mg in favour of the TCI group was found, even if this difference did not reach statistical significance because of the large variance.

Another advantage that was stated by the nursing staff is the convenience of the pump, allowing for more time and focus for the endoscopy nurse to help with the procedure if necessary, as well as the fewer manual interactions of the syringes, which reduces the risk of contamination.

Interestingly, significantly less fentanyl was used in the TCI group. This could be interpreted as a relative underuse of propofol in the bolus group, where the total amount of propofol would have been expected to be higher compared to the TCI group. It seemed that in the bolus group, at least some of the propofol was substituted by fentanyl.

Zaishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study indicates that sedation using TCI for GI endoscopy reduces the dose of propofol necessary per minute of endoscopy and this could have an impact especially on prolonged endoscopy procedures. This may also translate into less adverse events and higher safety when using TCI in prolonged procedures. However, further studies on large scale with prospective randomized-controlled design are needed to standardize sedation with propofol. With proper education, TCI sedation could then be implemented in routine endoscopy procedures.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Non-anaesthesiologist propofol sedation (NAPS) for gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy is safe and effective. Target controlled infusion (TCI) is claimed to provide an optimal sedation regimen by avoiding under or over-sedation.

Research motivation

Little is known about the differences of time of sedation and propofol dosage between nurse-administered intermittent bolus propofol sedation and TCI.

Research objectives

The aim of this study is to assess safety and performance of propofol TCI sedation in comparison with nurseadministered bolus-sedation.

Research methods

Forty-five patients undergoing endoscopy under TCI propofol sedation were prospectively included from November 2016 to May 2017 and compared to 87 patients retrospectively included that underwent endoscopy with NAPS.

Research results

Sedation using TCI for GI endoscopy reduces the dose of propofol necessary per minute of endoscopy (8.2 ± 2.7 mg/min vs 9.3 ± 3.4 mg/min; P = 0.046). Time needed to provide adequate sedation levels was lower in the control group. No differences between TCI and bolus-sedation was observed for mean total-dosage of propofol rate as well as adverse events.

Research conclusions

Sedation using TCI for GI endoscopy reduces the dose of propofol necessary per minute of endoscopy.

Research perspectives

Sedation using TCI for GI endoscopy could have an impact on propofol total dosage especially on prolonged endoscopy procedures. This may also translate into less adverse events and higher safety when using TCI in prolonged procedures.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Sarraj R collected the dataset, wrote and designed the manuscript and figures; Vakilzadeh N provided support for the statistical analysis and figure design; Krupka N reviewed the manuscript and supported the submission; Theiler L and Wiest R designed the trial and implemented the TCI use in clinical practice and reviewed and the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Gesundheits-, Sozial-und Integrations direktion Kantonale Ethikkommission für die Forschung.

Conflict-of-interest statement: No conflict-of-internest to disclose.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at riad.sarraj@insel.ch. patient consent was not obtained but the presented data are anonymized and risk of identification is low.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Switzerland

ORCID number: Riad Sarraj 0000-0003-4710-3704; Reiner Wiest 0000-0002-1469-7107.



S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Rex DK, Deenadayalu VP, Eid E, Imperiale TF, Walker JA, Sandhu K, Clarke AC, Hillman LC, Horiuchi A, Cohen LB, Heuss LT, Peter S, 1 Beglinger C, Sinnott JA, Welton T, Rofail M, Subei I, Sleven R, Jordan P, Goff J, Gerstenberger PD, Munnings H, Tagle M, Sipe BW, Wehrmann T, Di Palma JA, Occhipinti KE, Barbi E, Riphaus A, Amann ST, Tohda G, McClellan T, Thueson C, Morse J, Meah N. Endoscopist-directed administration of propofol: a worldwide safety experience. Gastroenterology 2009; 137: 1229-37; quiz 1518 [PMID: 19549528 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.06.042]
- Dumonceau JM, Riphaus A, Schreiber F, Vilmann P, Beilenhoff U, Aparicio JR, Vargo JJ, Manolaraki M, Wientjes C, Rácz I, Hassan C, 2 Paspatis G. Non-anesthesiologist administration of propofol for gastrointestinal endoscopy: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, European Society of Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Nurses and Associates Guideline--Updated June 2015. Endoscopy 2015; 47: 1175-1189 [PMID: 26561915 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1393414]
- 3 Cohen LB, Dubovsky AN, Aisenberg J, Miller KM. Propofol for endoscopic sedation: A protocol for safe and effective administration by the gastroenterologist. Gastrointest Endosc 2003; 58: 725-732 [PMID: 14595310 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(03)02010-8]
- 4 American Association for Study of Liver Diseases; American College of Gastroenterology; American Gastroenterological Association Institute; American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy; Society for Gastroenterology Nurses and Associates, Vargo JJ, DeLegge MH, Feld AD, Gerstenberger PD, Kwo PY, Lightdale JR, Nuccio S, Rex DK, Schiller LR. Multisociety sedation curriculum for gastrointestinal endoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 76: e1-25 [PMID: 22624793 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.001]
- Heuss LT, Froehlich F, Beglinger C. Nonanesthesiologist-administered propofol sedation: from the exception to standard practice. Sedation 5 and monitoring trends over 20 years. Endoscopy 2012; 44: 504-511 [PMID: 22389232 DOI: 10.1055/s-0031-1291668]
- Wehrmann T, Riphaus A. Sedation with propofol for interventional endoscopic procedures: a risk factor analysis. Scand J Gastroenterol 6 2008; **43**: 368-374 [PMID: 18938664 DOI: 10.1080/00365520701679181]
- 7 Newson C, Joshi GP, Victory R, White PF. Comparison of propofol administration techniques for sedation during monitored anesthesia care. Anesth Analg 1995; 81: 486-491 [PMID: 7653809 DOI: 10.1097/00000539-199509000-00010]
- 8 Schnider TW, Minto CF, Struys MM, Absalom AR. The Safety of Target-Controlled Infusions. Anesth Analg 2016; 122: 79-85 [PMID: 26516801 DOI: 10.1213/ANE.0000000000001005]
- Fanti L, Agostoni M, Arcidiacono PG, Albertin A, Strini G, Carrara S, Guslandi M, Torri G, Testoni PA. Target-controlled infusion during 9 monitored anesthesia care in patients undergoing EUS: propofol alone versus midazolam plus propofol. A prospective double-blind randomised controlled trial. Dig Liver Dis 2007; 39: 81-86 [PMID: 17049322 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2006.09.004]
- Struys MM, De Smet T, Glen JI, Vereecke HE, Absalom AR, Schnider TW. The History of Target-Controlled Infusion. Anesth Analg 2016; 10
- De Oliveira GS Jr, Kendall MC, Marcus RJ, McCarthy RJ. The relationship between the Bispectral Index (BIS) and the Observer Alertness of 11 Sedation Scale (OASS) scores during propofol sedation with and without ketamine: a randomized, double blinded, placebo controlled clinical trial. J Clin Monit Comput 2016; 30: 495-501 [PMID: 26219614 DOI: 10.1007/s10877-015-9745-0]
- Zaluardo MP, Krayer S, Brunner T, Walder B, Bauerfeind P, Hartmeier S, Ammann P, Weilenmann D, Jacob AL, Franzen D. Empfehlungen 12 und Standards für die Analgosedierung durch Nicht-Anästhesisten. Swiss Medical Forum 2016 [DOI: 10.4414/smf.2016.02782]
- Cohen LB. Endoscopy: Can computer-aided personalized sedation bridge troubled waters? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 8: 183-184 13 [PMID: 21386813 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2011.31]
- Agostoni M, Fanti L, Gemma M, Pasculli N, Beretta L, Testoni PA. Adverse events during monitored anesthesia care for GI endoscopy: an 8-14 year experience. Gastrointest Endosc 2011; 74: 266-275 [PMID: 21704990 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.04.028]
- Barawi M, Gress F. Conscious sedation: is there a need for improvement? Gastrointest Endosc 2000; 51: 365-368 [PMID: 10699796 DOI: 15 10.1016/s0016-5107(00)70376-2
- Wang JF, Li B, Yang YG, Fan XH, Li JB, Deng XM. Target-Controlled Infusion of Propofol in Training Anesthesiology Residents in 16 Colonoscopy Sedation: A Prospective Randomized Crossover Trial. Med Sci Monit 2016; 22: 206-210 [PMID: 26787637 DOI: 10.12659/msm.895295]
- Chiang MH, Wu SC, You CH, Wu KL, Chiu YC, Ma CW, Kao CW, Lin KC, Chen KH, Wang PC, Chou AK. Target-controlled infusion vs. 17 manually controlled infusion of propofol with alfentanil for bidirectional endoscopy: a randomized controlled trial. Endoscopy 2013; 45: 907-914 [PMID: 24165817 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344645]
- 18 Gotoda T, Okada H, Hori K, Kawahara Y, Iwamuro M, Abe M, Kono Y, Miura K, Kanzaki H, Kita M, Kawano S, Yamamoto K. Propofol sedation with a target-controlled infusion pump and bispectral index monitoring system in elderly patients during a complex upper endoscopy procedure. Gastrointest Endosc 2016; 83: 756-764 [PMID: 26301406 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.08.034]
- Lin YJ, Wang YC, Huang HH, Huang CH, Liao MX, Lin PL. Target-controlled propofol infusion with or without bispectral index monitoring 19 of sedation during advanced gastrointestinal endoscopy. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 35: 1189-1195 [PMID: 31802534 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.14943]

F WÛ

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 18-28

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.18

Clinical Trials Study

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Bowel preparation protocol for hospitalized patients ages 50 years or older: A randomized controlled trial

Yu He, Qi Liu, Yi-Wen Chen, Li-Jian Cui, Kai Cao, Zi-Hao Guo

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Gunnarsson U, Sweden

Received: August 26, 2023 Peer-review started: August 26, 2023 First decision: November 20, 2023 Revised: December 2, 2023 Accepted: December 14, 2023 Article in press: December 14, 2023 Published online: January 16, 2024



Yu He, Qi Liu, Yi-Wen Chen, Department of Geriatrics, Beijing Tongren Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100730, China

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal*

Endoscopy

Li-Jian Cui, Zi-Hao Guo, Department of Gastroenterology, Beijing Tongren Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100730, China

Kai Cao, Beijing Institute of Ophthalmology, Beijing Tongren Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing 100730, China

Corresponding author: Qi Liu, MD, PhD, Chief Physician, Professor, Department of Geriatrics, Beijing Tongren Hospital, Capital Medical University, No. 1 Dongjiaominxiang Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing 100730, China. liuqi6612@mail.ccmu.edu.cn

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The incidence and mortality rate of colorectal cancer progressively increase with age and become particularly prominent after the age of 50 years. Therefore, the population that is \geq 50 years in age requires long-term and regular colonoscopies. Uncomfortable bowel preparation is the main reason preventing patients from undergoing regular colonoscopies. The standard bowel preparation regimen of 4-L polyethylene glycol (PEG) is effective but poorly tolerated.

AIM

To investigate an effective and comfortable bowel preparation regimen for hospitalized patients \geq 50 years in age.

METHODS

Patients were randomly assigned to group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a lowresidue diet) or group 2 (4-L PEG). Adequate bowel preparation was defined as a Boston bowel preparation scale (BBPS) score of ≥ 6 , with a score of ≥ 2 for each segment. Non-inferiority was prespecified with a margin of 10%. Additionally, the degree of comfort was assessed based on the comfort questionnaire.

RESULTS

The proportion of patients with a BBPS score of ≥ 6 in group 1 was not significantly different from that in group 2, as demonstrated by intention-to-treat (91.2% *vs* 91.0%, *P* = 0.953) and per-protocol (91.8% *vs* 91.0%, *P* = 0.802) analyses. Furthermore, in patients \geq 75 years in age, the proportion of BBPS scores of \geq 6 in



group 1 was not significantly different from that in group 2 (90.9% *vs* 97.0%, *P* = 0.716). Group 1 had higher comfort scores (8.85 ± 1.162 *vs* 7.59 ± 1.735, *P* < 0.001), longer sleep duration (6.86 ± 1.204 h *vs* 5.80 ± 1.730 h, *P* < 0.001), and fewer awakenings (1.42 ± 1.183 *vs* 2.04 ± 1.835, *P* = 0.026) than group 2.

CONCLUSION

For hospitalized patients \geq 50 years in age, the bowel preparation regimen comprising 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet produced a cleanse that was as effective as the 4-L PEG regimen and even provided better comfort.

Key Words: Aged 50 years or older; Hospitalized; 2-L polyethylene-glycol + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet; Comfort

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Individuals \geq 50 years in age require long-term and regular colonoscopies. Uncomfortable bowel preparation is the main reason preventing patients from undergoing regular colonoscopies. The 4-L polyethylene glycol (PEG) regimen is effective but poorly tolerated. We observed that the 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + low-residue diet regimen was not inferior to the 4-L PEG regimen. The 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + low-residue diet regimen was more comfortable than the 4-L PEG regimen. In patients \geq 75 years in age, 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + low-residue diet regimen was still effective.

Citation: He Y, Liu Q, Chen YW, Cui LJ, Cao K, Guo ZH. Bowel preparation protocol for hospitalized patients ages 50 years or older: A randomized controlled trial. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2024; 16(1): 18-28 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v16/i1/18.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.18

INTRODUCTION

The incidence and mortality rate of colorectal cancer (CRC) progressively increase with age and become particularly prominent after the age of 50 years[1]. Furthermore, approximately 90% of CRC cases and deaths worldwide are estimated to occur in this age group[1]. Therefore, the notably higher risk for CRC in the population of \geq 50 years in age necessitates long-term and regular colonoscopies. Using laxatives is one of the most uncomfortable aspects of the colonoscopy procedure and is a major deterrent to patients adhering to regular colonoscopies[2]. Thus, effective and comfortable bowel preparation regimens are required to promote regular colonoscopies among patients \geq 50 years in age.

A high-dose (4 L) regimen of water-mixed polyethylene glycol (PEG) yields a good bowel cleansing effect[3], but patients poorly tolerate it due to the high volume of water consumed. Alternatively, a low-dose bowel preparation regimen using 2 L of water mixed with PEG and ascorbic acid has been proposed to improve tolerability in adults[4]. However, the risk of inadequate bowel preparation is higher in adults \geq 50 years in age than in younger individuals. Advanced age, increasing prevalence of constipation, diabetes, and hypertension are all risk factors for inadequate bowel preparation[3,5]. Moreover, individuals of ages 50 years or older have a higher prevalence of comorbidities and are more likely to be on antiplatelet or anticoagulant medications, resulting in an increased risk during the pericolonoscopy period. Consequently, they have a higher proportion of hospitalizations for colonoscopy compared to younger individuals. Hospitalization itself is considered a risk factor for inadequate bowel preparation[3,5]. Limited clinical studies have been conducted to clarify the effectiveness and comfort of low-dose bowel preparation regimens in hospitalized patients \geq 50 years in age.

Reducing water intake to 2 L can improve comfort[4], while following a low-residue diet[6] and using lactulose as an adjuvant[7] can enhance the effectiveness of bowel preparation. Therefore, we proposed a bowel preparation regimen involving a mixture of 2 L of water with PEG and lactulose along with a low-residue diet for hospitalized patients \geq 50 years in age who were undergoing colonoscopy. We aimed to evaluate the effectiveness, comfort, and safety of this method. These study results may contribute to supporting and improving decision-making in clinical practice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and setting

This was a prospective, single-blinded (endoscopist) randomized controlled trial conducted in a tertiary care hospital in Beijing, China, which included patients who underwent colonoscopy at the endoscopy center. All colonoscopies were scheduled in the afternoon. No endoscopists used additional adjuvants or adjuvant devices to improve bowel preparation.

Zaishidena® WJGE https://www.wjgnet.com

Patients

Patients admitted to the Geriatrics Department for planned colonoscopy from January 2022 to June 2022 were included in the study. The criteria for patients to be admitted for colonoscopy were as follows: (1) Presence of \geq 2 comorbidities (such as diabetes, hypertension, chronic heart failure, coronary heart disease, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, *etc*); (2) colon polyp diameter \geq 1 cm, requiring polypectomy; (3) history of colon polyps with a diameter ≥ 1 cm; and/or (4) history of inadequate bowel preparation. Patient inclusion criteria included: (1) Age ≥ 50 years; (2) indication for colonoscopy; and (3) willingness to participate in the study. Exclusion criteria included: (1) Age < 50 years; (2) inability to complete bowel preparation; and (3) unwillingness to enroll in the study. The study design was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Beijing Tongren Hospital Affiliated to Capital Medical University (approval No. TRECKY2021-227). The trial registration number is NCT05397158.

Randomization and group description

A random sequence of 312 individuals was generated using statistical software. Participants were allocated to either group 1 or group 2 in accordance with their order of enrollment, following the sequentially assigned random sequence numbers. In group 1, the patients received 30 mL of lactulose in the morning before the colonoscopy day and consumed a low-residue liquid diet for breakfast, lunch, and dinner. The patients were then provided with 2 L of water mixed with PEG electrolyte powder on the morning of the colonoscopy and fasted for breakfast and lunch. In group 2, patients were allowed to have a regular diet for breakfast and lunch the day before the colonoscopy and a fasted, enteral nutritional emulsion or low-residue liquid diet for dinner (depending on the patient's blood glucose and tolerance). They received 2 L of water mixed with PEG electrolyte powder in the afternoon before the colonoscopy. Then, the patients were administered 2 L of water mixed with PEG electrolyte powder on the morning of the colonoscopy and fasted for breakfast and lunch. The PEG electrolyte powder comprised PEG, sodium sulfate, sodium bicarbonate, sodium chloride, and potassium chloride.

Before bowel preparation, the physician explained the bowel preparation regimens to the patient and provided written bowel preparation instructions (Supplementary material) and a comfort questionnaire (Supplementary material). The questionnaire was completed by the patient and collected before the colonoscopy. Furthermore, the physician checked with the patient on the evening before the colonoscopy and on the morning of the colonoscopy to evaluate the bowel preparation. If the cleansing was poor and inadequate bowel preparation was predicted, 1 L of water mixed with PEG electrolyte powder was additionally provided on the morning of the colonoscopy, and the supplementation was recorded.

Pre-colonoscopy diet

This study provided the foods that the patients should consume before their colonoscopy. A low-residue liquid diet was defined as a diet with a total fiber intake of < 10 g/d[3]. Breakfast included whole milk, white bread, and boiled eggs, lunch consisted of rice porridge, and dinner comprised rice porridge and steamed eggs. An enteral nutritional emulsion was used as a residue-free liquid diet.

Assessment of bowel preparation

The endoscopists were blinded in this study, wherein two endoscopists reviewed the colonoscopy images (30-50 images per patient) and assessed bowel preparation using the Boston bowel preparation scale (BBPS)[8] (Supplementary material). According to the BBPS, the colon is divided into three segments: right colon, transverse colon, and left colon (descending and rectosigmoid colon)[9]. Adequate bowel preparation was defined as a BBPS score of \geq 6, with a score of \geq 2 for each segment[10,11].

Variables collected

The following variables were recorded for the various aspects of the study: (1) Demographics of the study patients: Age, sex, lifestyle habits (including smoking and alcohol consumption), history of abdominopelvic surgery, comorbidities, and nutritional status (including body mass index, blood hemoglobin, and serum albumin); (2) Bowel preparation: Patient's diet, type and dosage of laxatives administered, and interval between the last dose of laxatives and colonoscopy; (3) Colonoscopy: BBPS score of each bowel segment and the presence/absence of polyps, adenomas, or tumors (confirmed based on pathological examination); (4) Comfort: Comfort questionnaire results, including comfort score from 0 to 10, sleep duration on the night before colonoscopy, number of awakenings during sleep on the night before colonoscopy, and presence of bowel incontinence during bowel preparation; and (5) Safety: Laboratory test results of serum potassium, sodium, calcium, and creatinine and plasma B-type brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) before and after bowel preparation.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was to compare the percentage of adequate bowel preparation in each bowel segment and the whole colon in group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet) with that in group 2 (4-L PEG) as well as to compare the mean BBPS scores in each bowel segment and the whole colon between the two groups. The secondary outcome was to compare the difference in the comfort and safety of bowel preparation between group 1 and group 2.

Statistical analysis and sample size

Continuous variables were expressed as mean ± SD, while categorical variables were represented as count (percentage). Continuous variables were compared using the student's *t*-test or rank sum test, whereas the χ^2 test was used to compare



the categorical variables between the two groups. A P value of < 0.05 was considered significant. SPSS version 26 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, United States) was used for all statistical analyses.

Non-inferiority analysis was employed to determine whether the efficacy of the regimen of 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet was not inferior to that of the 4-L PEG regimen. According to the pre-experimental results and a previous study^[12], the non-inferiority margin between the two bowel preparation regimens was set at 10%. A total of 22 patients per group was needed based on a type I error of 2.5%, power of 80%, and dropout rate of 10%. In this study, we intended to conduct a subgroup analysis on the population \geq 75 years in age. In the preliminary experiment, this subgroup constituted approximately 15%-20% of the total population. To achieve a targeted subgroup sample size of 22 individuals per group, a final inclusion of 146 participants per group was determined. The analysis was performed using intention-to-treat and per-protocol approaches. We used the CONSORT reporting guidelines, with the CONSORT checklist published[13].

RESULTS

This study included 350 patients admitted to the Geriatrics Department for proposed colonoscopy between January 2022 and June 2022. Among these patients, 312 participated in the randomized grouping, from which 8 patients were excluded because of missing data. Ultimately, 148 patients were included in group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet) and 156 in group 2 (4-L PEG). Further, 2 patients in group 1 and 1 patient in group 2 were excluded because they were administered an additional 1 L of PEG due to predicted inadequate bowel preparation. Figure 1 shows the flow chart of the study.

A total of 148 patients were included in group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet), with an age range of 52-88 years. Additionally, 156 patients were enrolled in group 2 (4-L PEG), with ages ranging from 50-92 years. No statistical differences in sex, age, lifestyle habits, history of abdominopelvic surgery, most comorbidities, or nutritional status were found between the two groups. Compared with the patients in group 2, those in group 1 had a significantly longer interval (4.71 \pm 1.248 vs 4.26 \pm 1.315, P = 0.003) between the last dose of laxatives and colonoscopy. Table 1 shows the complete demographic information.

Analysis of bowel preparation

The results of the bowel preparation assessment in both groups were compared based on the intention-to-treat analysis (Table 2). The proportion of BBPS scores of ≥ 2 in the right colon (75.7% vs 74.4%, P = 0.791), transverse colon (98.0% vs 95.5%, P = 0.379), and left colon (100.0% vs 99.4%, P = 0.379) as well as the proportion of BBPS scores of ≥ 6 in the whole colon (91.2% vs 91.0%, P = 0.953) in group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet) did not differ significantly from those in group 2 (4-L PEG). Similarly, the mean BBPS scores of the right colon, transverse colon, and left colon as well as that of the whole colon showed no differences between groups 1 and 2.

The results of the bowel preparation assessment in the two groups were further compared using per-protocol analysis (Table 2). Group 1 and group 2 did not demonstrate significant differences in the proportion of BBPS scores of ≥ 2 in each segment as well as in the proportion of BBPS scores of ≥ 6 in the whole colon. Furthermore, no differences were observed between groups 1 and 2 in terms of mean BBPS scores of each segment as well as that of the whole colon.

Detection rates of polyps, adenomas, and tumors

Based on the intention-to-treat analysis, the detection rates of polyps (73.0% vs 66.7%, P = 0.232), adenomas (56.8% vs 46.8%, P = 0.082), and tumors (4.1% vs 3.2%, P = 0.684) were not significantly different between group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet) and group 2 (4-L PEG) (Table 2).

The results of the per-protocol analysis also showed no significant differences in the detection rates of polyps, adenomas, and tumors between group 1 and group 2 (Table 2). Therefore, the bowel preparation regimen of 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet was not inferior to the 4-L PEG regimen for detecting polyps, adenomas, and tumors.

Bowel preparation in patients \geq 75 years in age

A total of 55 patients were of ages 75 years or older, among which 22 were in group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a lowresidue diet) and 33 in group 2 (4-L PEG). The two groups showed no differences in sex, age, history of abdominopelvic surgery, constipation, laxatives, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, nor nutritional status (body mass index, blood hemoglobin, and serum albumin) (Table 3).

As revealed in Table 3, the proportions of BBPS scores of ≥ 2 in the right colon, transverse colon, and left colon as well as the proportion of BBPS scores of ≥ 6 in the whole colon in group 1 were not significantly different from those in group 2 (Table 3). Thus, in the case of patients \geq 75 years in age, the bowel preparation efficiency in group 1 was not inferior to that in group 2.

Comfort and safety assessments

Our results showed that group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet) had higher comfort scores (8.85 ± 1.162 vs 7.59 ± 1.735, P < 0.001), longer sleep duration (6.86 ± 1.204 h vs 5.80 ± 1.730 h, P < 0.001), and fewer awakenings (1.42 ± 1.183 vs 2.04 ± 1.835, P = 0.026) on the night before the colonoscopy than group 2 (4-L PEG). Furthermore, compared with group 2, group 1 showed a reduced incidence of bowel incontinence during bowel preparation; however, this difference was not significant (Table 4). Therefore, patients in group 1 experienced better comfort than those in group 2.



Table 1 Demographics of the study patients, <i>n</i> (%)			
Characteristics	Group 1 ¹ , <i>n</i> = 148	Group 2 ² , <i>n</i> = 156	P value
Age in yr	65.76 ± 7.843	66.99 ± 9.337	0.377
Male sex	100 (67.6)	105 (67.3)	0.961
Lifestyle habits			
Current smoking	30 (20.3)	33 (21.2)	0.849
Smoking history	63 (42.6)	66 (42.3)	0.963
Current drinking	34 (23.0)	35 (22.4)	0.911
Drinking history	40 (27.0)	41 (26.3)	0.883
History of abdominopelvic surgery	41 (27.9)	56 (36.1)	0.125
Comorbidity			
Constipation	19 (12.8)	25 (16.0)	0.430
Drugs for constipation	7 (4.7)	10 (6.4)	0.524
Diabetes	64 (43.2)	74 (47.4)	0.463
Hypertension	86 (58.1)	89 (57.4)	0.903
Chronic heart failure	2 (1.4)	4 (2.6)	0.728
Coronary heart disease	19 (12.8)	34 (21.8)	0.040
Chronic kidney disease (≥ stage 2)	99 (66.8)	89 (57.0)	0.280
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	6 (4.1)	8 (5.1)	0.655
Nutritional status			
BMI in kg/m ²	24.325 ± 3.049	24.569 ± 2.936	0.718
Hemoglobin in g/L	135.91 ± 15.903	135.30 ± 15.906	0.675
Albumin in g/L	39.542 ± 3.0895	39.469 ± 3.7827	0.710
Interval between last dose of laxatives and colonoscopy in h	4.71 ± 1.248	4.26 ± 1.315	0.003

 1 Group 1: 30 mL of lactulose on the day before the colonoscopy, three meals with a low-residue liquid diet, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol on the colonoscopy day.

²Group 2: Regular diet for breakfast and lunch, fasting or a low-residue liquid diet for dinner, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol (PEG) on the day before the colonoscopy; 2 L of water mixed with PEG on the colonoscopy day.

Data are mean \pm SD or *n* (%). BMI: Body mass index.

The alterations in the levels of serum electrolytes (potassium, sodium, and calcium), serum creatinine, and plasma BNP before and after bowel preparation in group 1 were slight and not different from those in group 2 (Table 5). Thus, the two bowel preparation regimens had no significant effect on the electrolyte levels nor renal or cardiac function, with no significant difference between the two groups.

DISCUSSION

Globally, the morbidity and mortality rates of CRC gradually increase with age and become particularly pronounced in individuals \geq 50 years in age[1]. Hence, adults \geq 50 years in age require regular colonoscopies. Our study results showed that the bowel preparation regimen comprising a low dose of 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet had a good bowel preparation effect along with comfort and safety profiles for patients \geq 50 years in age. Furthermore, we observed that in the subgroup of patients \geq 75 years in age who were at higher risk of inadequate bowel preparation, the 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet regime was not inferior to the 4-L PEG regimen.

In the subgroup analysis of individuals \geq 75 years in age, group 1 exhibited a slightly lower percentage of adequate bowel preparation in the right colon compared to group 2, without statistical significance. This observation might be attributed to a longer time interval between the administration of the final bowel preparation agent and the colonoscopy procedure in group 1 compared to group 2. Furthermore, this study included a limited number of patients \geq 75 years in age, and there was a disparity in the sample sizes between the two groups, which needs to be addressed in future studies. Therefore, further research is necessary to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the effectiveness of a low-dose

Table 2 Comparison of the degree of cle (%)	ansing of the bowel prepara	ation regimens and colonoscop	y findings between groups 1 and	1 2, n
Variables	Group 1 ¹	Group 2 ²	P value	
Intention-to-treat analysis	<i>n</i> = 148	<i>n</i> = 156	N/A	
Right BBPS score ≥ 2	112 (75.7)	116 (74.4)	0.791	
Transverse BBPS score ≥ 2	145 (98.0)	149 (95.5)	0.379	
Left BBPS score ≥ 2	148 (100.0)	155 (99.4)	0.247	
Global BBPS score ≥ 6	135 (91.2)	142 (91.0)	0.953	
Mean BBPS in the right colon	1.92 ± 0.634	1.92 ± 0.727	0.861	
Mean BBPS in the transverse colon	2.73 ± 0.489	2.68 ± 0.556	0.539	
Mean BBPS in the left colon	2.64 ± 0.483	2.58 ± 0.507	0.395	
Mean BBPS in the whole colon	7.28 ± 1.167	7.18 ± 1.346	0.676	
Polyp detection rate	108 (73.0)	104 (66.7)	0.232	
Adenoma detection rate	84 (56.8)	73 (46.8)	0.082	
Tumor detection rate	6 (4.1)	5 (3.2)	0.684	
Per-protocol analysis	<i>n</i> = 146	<i>n</i> = 155	N/A	
Right BBPS score ≥ 2	112 (76.7)	116 (74.8)	0.705	
Transverse BBPS score ≥ 2	143 (97.9)	148 (95.5)	0.234	
Left BBPS score ≥ 2	146 (100.0)	154 (99.4)	0.331	
Global BBPS score ≥ 6	134 (91.8)	141 (91.0)	0.802	
Mean BBPS in the right colon	1.93 ± 0.629	1.92 ± 0.726	0.924	
Mean BBPS in the transverse colon	2.73 ± 0.488	2.68 ± 0.555	0.556	
Mean BBPS in the left colon	2.64 ± 0.483	2.58 ± 0.508	0.354	
Mean BBPS in the whole colon	7.30 ± 1.159	7.19 ± 1.347	0.639	
Polyp detection rate	106 (72.6)	103 (66.5)	0.247	
Adenoma detection rate	83 (56.8)	72 (46.5)	0.071	
Tumor detection rate	6 (4.1)	5 (3.2)	0.674	

¹Group 1: 30 mL of lactulose on the day before the colonoscopy, three meals with a low-residue liquid diet, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol on the colonoscopy day.

²Group 2: Regular diet for breakfast and lunch, fasting or a low-residue liquid diet for dinner, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol (PEG) on the day before the colonoscopy; 2 L of water mixed with PEG on the colonoscopy day.

Data are mean \pm SD or *n* (%). BBPS: Boston bowel preparation scale; N/A: Not applicable.

bowel preparation regimen in achieving adequate preparation of the right colon in older individuals.

Comorbidities gradually increase with age in individuals \geq 50 years in age. Multiple previous studies on bowel preparation have excluded patients with chronic kidney disease, chronic heart failure, long-term laxative use, long-term antiplatelet drug and anticoagulant drug use, or inflammatory bowel diseases[14,15]. In contrast, the present study included patients with such conditions, which reflected the real clinical practice situation. This makes the resulting findings more informative for clinical settings. In this study, notable differences were observed between the two groups of patients in terms of the proportion of individuals with concurrent coronary heart disease and the time interval between the administration of the final bowel preparation agent and the colonoscopy procedure. These differences might be attributed to the relatively small sample size in the study. In the future, it is necessary to further expand the sample size to reduce the influence of confounding factors on the study results.

Compared with fasting, a low-residue diet leads to better tolerance and patient compliance, leading to more patients being willing to review colonoscopy[6,16]. Previous studies also suggest that a longer low-residue diet (*e.g.*, 3 d) before colonoscopy provides no additional benefit to bowel cleansing[17]. In the commonly used clinical method of 4 L of water mixed with PEG, there are no restrictions on breakfast and lunch on the day before the colonoscopy. Hence, in group 2 (4-L PEG), patients were allowed to consume a regular diet for breakfast and lunch on the day before the colonoscopy, while their dinner options were either a low-residue liquid diet or fasting, depending on the presence or absence of diabetes in each individual patient.

Table 3 Demographics and bowel preparation efficiency in patients \geq 75 years in age in groups 1 and 2, <i>n</i> (%)			
Characteristics	Group 1 ¹ , <i>n</i> = 22	Group 2 ² , <i>n</i> = 33	<i>P</i> value
Age in yr	79.36 ± 4.22	81.03 ± 4.19	0.149
Male sex	15 (68.2)	25 (75.8)	0.537
History of abdominopelvic surgery	8 (36.4)	15 (45.5)	0.503
Comorbidity			
Constipation	6 (27.3)	8 (24.2)	0.800
Drugs for constipation	2 (9.1)	3 (9.1)	1.000
Diabetes	12 (54.5)	14 (42.4)	0.378
Hypertension	17 (77.3)	24 (72.7)	0.848
Nutritional status			
BMI in kg/m ²	24.16 ± 2.88	24.29 ± 2.53	0.542
Hemoglobin in g/L	128.50 ± 15.88	125.12 ± 16.39	0.203
Albumin in g/L	38.60 ± 4.05	37.88 ± 4.19	0.600
Bowel preparation efficiency			
Right BBPS score ≥ 2	16 (72.7)	27 (81.8)	0.641
Transverse BBPS score ≥ 2	22 (100.0)	32 (97.0)	1.000
Left BBPS score ≥ 2	22 (100.0)	33 (100.0)	N/A
Global BBPS score ≥ 6	20 (90.9)	32 (97.0)	0.716

Data are mean \pm SD or n (%).

¹Group 1: 30 mL of lactulose on the day before the colonoscopy, three meals with a low-residue liquid diet, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol on the colonoscopy day.

²Group 2: Regular diet for breakfast and lunch, fasting or a low-residue liquid diet for dinner, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol (PEG) on the day before the colonoscopy; 2 L of water mixed with PEG on the colonoscopy day. BBPS: Boston bowel preparation scale. BMI: Body mass index; N/A: Not available.

Table 4 Comparison of degree of comfort between groups 1 and 2			
Variable	Group 1 ¹ , <i>n</i> = 60	Group 2 ² , <i>n</i> = 82	<i>P</i> value
Comfort score	8.85 ± 1.162	7.59 ± 1.735	< 0.001
Sleep duration in h	6.86 ± 1.204	5.80 ± 1.730	< 0.001
Number of awakenings	1.42 ± 1.183	2.04 ± 1.835	0.026
Incontinence (%)	4 (6.7)	11 (13.4)	0.196

Data are mean \pm SD or n (%).

¹Group 1: 30 mL of lactulose on the day before the colonoscopy, three meals with a low-residue liquid diet, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol on the colonoscopy day.

²Group 2: Regular diet for breakfast and lunch, fasting or a low-residue liquid diet for dinner, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol (PEG) on the day before the colonoscopy; 2 L of water mixed with PEG on the colonoscopy day.

Laxative agents can be categorized into two main types: isotonic and hyperosmotic. Previous studies have shown that hyperosmotic laxatives can significantly increase the risk of deteriorating renal function[18]. Furthermore, in patients with inflammatory bowel disease, using hyperosmotic laxatives can increase the risk of worsening mucosal lesions associated with bowel preparation[19]. Therefore, the safer PEG-based isotonic laxative was chosen for this study of patients \geq 50 years in age. Moreover, our results suggested that neither high doses (4 L) nor low doses (2 L) of PEG had a significant effect on electrolyte (potassium, sodium, and calcium) levels nor renal or cardiac function.

Lactulose, the adjuvant used in this study, is commonly used to treat constipation by promoting bowel movements. Previous studies in patients with constipation have demonstrated that the bowel preparation effect of PEG combined with lactulose is better than that of PEG alone[7]. Moreover, lactulose has a good taste and does not require large amounts of water in a short period. Thus, it can reduce the symptoms such as abdominal distension and nausea and

Table 5 Comparison of laboratory test results before and after bowel preparation between groups 1 and 2				
Variables, before and after bowel preparation	Group 1 ¹ , <i>n</i> = 51	Group 2 ² , <i>n</i> = 53	<i>P</i> value	
Serum potassium in mmol/L	0.277 ± 0.288	0.275 ± 0.343	0.809	
Serum sodium in mmol/L	1.804 ± 2.498	1.566 ± 2.508	0.878	
Serum calcium in mmol/L	0.015 ± 0.117	0.018 ± 0.099	0.435	
Serum creatinine in μ mol/L	1.678 ± 6.110	3.832 ± 6.805	0.093	
Plasma BNP in pg/mL	3.851 ± 30.264	8.0417 ± 64.987	0.216	

Data are mean ± SD. BNP: B-type brain natriuretic peptide.

¹Group 1: 30 mL of lactulose on the day before the colonoscopy, three meals with a low-residue liquid diet, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol on the colonoscopy day.

²Group 2: Regular diet for breakfast and lunch fasting or a low-residue liquid diet for dinner, and 2 L of water mixed with polyethylene glycol (PEG) on the day before the colonoscopy; 2 L of water mixed with PEG on the colonoscopy day.



Figure 1 Flow chart of the study. BNP: B-type brain natriuretic peptide; PEG: Polyethylene glycol.

Baishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

He Y et al. Bowel preparation for age 50-plus

improve patient tolerance.

In this study, BBPS was used to assess bowel preparation. The bowel preparation of the regimen was assessed after the endoscopist completed flushing and suction. The effectiveness and reliability of this scale have been confirmed by large sample-size studies[20].

Studies have demonstrated that an interval of 3-5 h between the last dose of laxatives and colonoscopy is optimal for good bowel preparation quality, with a minimum interval of at least 2 h[21]. However, the current study was limited by the number of endoscopists and scheduling of the colonoscopies. Thus, some patients had an interval of > 5 h between the last dose of laxatives and colonoscopy. The patients in group 1 (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet) had a significantly longer interval (closer to 5 h) between the last dose of laxatives and colonoscopy than those in group 2 (4-L PEG) (4.71 \pm 1.248 vs. 4.26 \pm 1.315, P = 0.003). Nevertheless, our results demonstrated that the 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet regimen was still not inferior to the 4-L PEG regimen for bowel preparation.

Regarding comfort during bowel preparation, previous studies have used the incidence of nausea and vomiting as an assessment indicator^[15] but have not evaluated the sleep situation and fecal incontinence on the night before the colonoscopy. The present study highlighted that the 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet regimen resulted in longer sleep duration, fewer awakenings, and a reduced incidence of fecal incontinence than the 4-L PEG regimen on the night before the colonoscopy. Additionally, the overall comfort score was higher with the 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet approach than in the 4-L PEG regimen, suggesting better patient tolerance that may promote long-term regular colonoscopy participation.

The study results also indicated good bowel preparation in older adults (age \geq 75 years) using a low dose of laxatives (2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet). However, the comfort and safety parameters in this subgroup were not evaluated due to the limited number of patients available. Therefore, further studies should be conducted to assess bowel preparation in the older population of \geq 75 years in age.

This study exclusively included hospitalized patients. However, in other countries, a portion of patients may choose outpatient colonoscopy examinations based on local circumstances. Due to the relatively short duration of hospital stay for the participants in this study, their clinical characteristics resembled those of outpatient cases. Therefore, the results of this study may be applicable to outpatient populations.

CONCLUSION

Patients \geq 50 years in age require long-term and regular colonoscopies due to the notably higher CRC morbidity and mortality rates. The bowel preparation regimen of low-dose (2 L) PEG combined with lactulose and a low-residue diet was comparable with the high-dose (4 L) PEG regimen for bowel cleansing and even provided better comfort.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The incidence and mortality rates of colorectal cancer (CRC) progressively increase with age, and this rise is particularly prominent after the age of 50 years. Therefore, the population \geq 50 years in age requires long-term and regular colonoscopies. Uncomfortable bowel preparation is the main reason that prevents patients from undergoing regular colonoscopies. The bowel preparation regimen of 4-L polyethylene glycol (PEG) is effective but poorly tolerated.

Research motivation

Reducing water intake to 2 L can improve comfort, while following a low-residue diet and using lactulose as an adjuvant can enhance the effectiveness of bowel preparation. Therefore, we proposed a bowel preparation regimen involving a mixture of 2 L water with PEG and lactulose along with a low-residue diet for hospitalized patients \geq 50 years in age who were undergoing colonoscopy.

Research objectives

This study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness, comfort, and safety of a 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + low-residue diet regimen.

Research methods

Non-inferiority analysis was employed to determine whether the efficacy of the regimen of 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet was not inferior to that of the 4-L PEG regimen. The analysis was performed using intention-to-treat and per-protocol approaches. The primary outcome was to compare the percentage of adequate bowel preparation in each bowel segment and the whole colon in group 1 with that in group 2 as well as to compare the mean Boston bowel preparation scale scores in each bowel segment and the whole colon between the two groups. The secondary outcome was to compare the difference in the comfort and safety of bowel preparation between group 1 and group 2. The comfort assessment included comfort score, sleep duration on the night before colonoscopy, number of awakenings during sleep on the night before colonoscopy, and the presence of bowel incontinence during bowel preparation. Safety assessment included laboratory test results of serum potassium, sodium, calcium, and creatinine and plasma B-type brain natriuretic



peptide before and after bowel preparation.

Research results

The bowel preparation regimen comprising a low dose of 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet had a good bowel preparation effect along with comfort and safety profiles for patients \geq 50 years in age. Furthermore, in the subgroup of patients ≥ 75 years in age who were at higher risk of inadequate bowel preparation, the 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet regime was not inferior to the 4-L PEG regimen.

Research conclusions

In patients \geq 50 years in age, the bowel preparation regimen comprising 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet produced a cleanse that was as effective as that yielded by the 4-L PEG regimen and even provided better comfort.

Research perspectives

Patients ≥ 50 years in age require long-term and regular colonoscopies due to their notably higher CRC morbidity and mortality. The bowel preparation regimen of 2-L PEG + 30-mL lactulose + a low-residue diet is comparable with the highdose (4 L) PEG regimen for bowel cleansing and even provides better comfort. These study results may contribute to supporting and improving decision-making in clinical practice.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to Han-Yang Wang for his help in completion of this manuscript.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Liu Q, Chen YW, and He Y designed the study; He Y, Cui LJ, and Guo ZH conducted the study; He Y and Cui LJ collected the data; He Y, Chen YW, Cao K, and Liu Q analyzed the data; He Y and Chen YW drafted the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Beijing Tongren Hospital Affiliated to Capital Medical University (Approval No. TRECKY2021-227).

Clinical trial registration statement: This study is registered at Clinical Trials.gov, registration number NCT05397158 (https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05397158).

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors of this manuscript having no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

CONSORT 2010 statement: The authors have read the CONSORT 2010 Statement, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CONSORT 2010 Statement.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yu He 0000-0002-1338-4141; Qi Liu 0000-0001-6004-2497; Yi-Wen Chen 0009-0008-5509-2818; Li-Jian Cui 0000-0002-5496-1048; Kai Cao 0000-0003-0185-887X; Zi-Hao Guo 0000-0002-8070-9786.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: Chinese Society of Geriatric.

S-Editor: Qu XL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

1 Keum N, Giovannucci E. Global burden of colorectal cancer: emerging trends, risk factors and prevention strategies. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 16: 713-732 [PMID: 31455888 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-019-0189-8]



- McLachlan SA, Clements A, Austoker J. Patients' experiences and reported barriers to colonoscopy in the screening context--a systematic 2 review of the literature. Patient Educ Couns 2012; 86: 137-146 [PMID: 21640543 DOI: 10.1016/j.pec.2011.04.010]
- 3 Hassan C, East J, Radaelli F, Spada C, Benamouzig R, Bisschops R, Bretthauer M, Dekker E, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Ferlitsch M, Fuccio L, Awadie H, Gralnek I, Jover R, Kaminski MF, Pellisé M, Triantafyllou K, Vanella G, Mangas-Sanjuan C, Frazzoni L, Van Hooft JE, Dumonceau JM. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline - Update 2019. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 775-794 [PMID: 31295746 DOI: 10.1055/a-0959-0505]
- Xie Q, Chen L, Zhao F, Zhou X, Huang P, Zhang L, Zhou D, Wei J, Wang W, Zheng S. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of 4 low-volume polyethylene glycol plus ascorbic acid versus standard-volume polyethylene glycol solution as bowel preparations for colonoscopy. PLoS One 2014; 9: e99092 [PMID: 24902028 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099092]
- Mahmood S, Farooqui SM, Madhoun MF. Predictors of inadequate bowel preparation for colonoscopy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. 5 Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 30: 819-826 [PMID: 29847488 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001175]
- 6 Zhang X, Wu Q, Wei M, Ding Y, Gu C, Liu S, Wang Z. Low-residual diet versus clear-liquid diet for bowel preparation before colonoscopy: meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis of randomized controlled trials. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 92: 508-518.e3 [PMID: 32376331 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.04.069]
- 7 Lu J, Cao Q, Wang X, Pu J, Peng X. Application of Oral Lactulose in Combination With Polyethylene Glycol Electrolyte Powder for Colonoscopy Bowel Preparation in Patients With Constipation. Am J Ther 2016; 23: e1020-e1024 [PMID: 26658804 DOI: 10.1097/MJT.00000000000351]
- 8 Jacobson BC, Calderwood AH. Measuring bowel preparation adequacy in colonoscopy-based research: review of key considerations. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 91: 248-256 [PMID: 31568770 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2019.09.031]
- 9 Parekh PJ, Oldfield EC 4th, Johnson DA. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: what is best and necessary for quality? Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2019; 35: 51-57 [PMID: 30489414 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000494]
- 10 Calderwood AH, Schroy PC 3rd, Lieberman DA, Logan JR, Zurfluh M, Jacobson BC. Boston Bowel Preparation Scale scores provide a standardized definition of adequate for describing bowel cleanliness. Gastrointest Endosc 2014; 80: 269-276 [PMID: 24629422 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.01.031]
- Clark BT, Protiva P, Nagar A, Imaeda A, Ciarleglio MM, Deng Y, Laine L. Quantification of Adequate Bowel Preparation for Screening or 11 Surveillance Colonoscopy in Men. Gastroenterology 2016; 150: 396-405; quiz e14 [PMID: 26439436 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.09.041]
- Gimeno-García AZ, Hernandez G, Aldea A, Nicolás-Pérez D, Jiménez A, Carrillo M, Felipe V, Alarcón-Fernández O, Hernandez-Guerra M, 12 Romero R, Alonso I, Gonzalez Y, Adrian Z, Moreno M, Ramos L, Quintero E. Comparison of Two Intensive Bowel Cleansing Regimens in Patients With Previous Poor Bowel Preparation: A Randomized Controlled Study. Am J Gastroenterol 2017; 112: 951-958 [PMID: 28291237 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2017.53]
- 13 Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: Updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. J Pharmacol Pharmacother 2010; 1: 100-107 [PMID: 21350618 DOI: 10.4103/0976-500X.72352]
- 14 Hernandez PV, Horsley-Silva JL, Snyder DL, Baffy N, Atia M, Koepke L, Buras MR, Lim ES, Ruff K, Umar SB, Islam S, Ramirez FC. Effect of bowel preparation volume in inpatient colonoscopy. Results of a prospective, randomized, comparative pilot study. BMC Gastroenterol 2020; 20: 227 [PMID: 32660521 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-020-01373-1]
- Zhang M, Zou W, Xu C, Jia R, Liu K, Xu Q, Xu H. Polyethylene glycol combined with linaclotide is an effective and well-tolerated bowel 15 preparation regimen for colonoscopy: an endoscopist-blinded, randomized, controlled trial. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 33: e625-e633 [PMID: 34034273 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000002184]
- Wu R, Ji WY, Yang C, Zhan Q. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Low-Residue Diet Versus Clear Liquid Diet: Which Is Better for 16 Bowel Preparation Before Colonoscopy? Gastroenterol Nurs 2021; 44: 341-352 [PMID: 34238885 DOI: 10.1097/SGA.00000000000554]
- Gimeno-García AZ, de la Barreda Heuser R, Reygosa C, Hernandez A, Mascareño I, Nicolás-Pérez D, Jiménez A, Lara AJ, Alarcon-17 Fernández O, Hernandez-Guerra M, Romero R, Alonso I, González Y, Adrian Z, Hernandez G, Hernandez D, Delgado R, Quintero E. Impact of a 1-day versus 3-day low-residue diet on bowel cleansing quality before colonoscopy: a randomized controlled trial. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 628-636 [PMID: 30943553 DOI: 10.1055/a-0864-1942]
- Russmann S, Lamerato L, Motsko SP, Pezzullo JC, Faber MD, Jones JK. Risk of further decline in renal function after the use of oral sodium 18 phosphate or polyethylene glycol in patients with a preexisting glomerular filtration rate below 60 ml/min. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103: 2707-2716 [PMID: 18945285 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.02201.x]
- Lawrance IC, Willert RP, Murray K. Bowel cleansing for colonoscopy: prospective randomized assessment of efficacy and of induced 19 mucosal abnormality with three preparation agents. Endoscopy 2011; 43: 412-418 [PMID: 21547879 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1256193]
- Di Leo M, Iannone A, Arena M, Losurdo G, Palamara MA, Iabichino G, Consolo P, Rendina M, Luigiano C, Di Leo A. Novel frontiers of 20 agents for bowel cleansing for colonoscopy. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 7748-7770 [PMID: 34963739 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i45.7748]
- Seo EH, Kim TO, Park MJ, Joo HR, Heo NY, Park J, Park SH, Yang SY, Moon YS. Optimal preparation-to-colonoscopy interval in split-dose 21 PEG bowel preparation determines satisfactory bowel preparation quality: an observational prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 75: 583-590 [PMID: 22177570 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.09.029]



E WO

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 29-36

World Journal of **Gastrointestinal**

Endoscopy

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.29

Observational Study

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Safety and efficacy of modified endoscopic ultrasound-guided selective N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate injections for gastric variceal hemorrhage in left-sided portal hypertension

Yan Zeng, Jian Yang, Jun-Wen Zhang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology	Yan Zeng, Department of Psychology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400010, China
Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer	Jian Yang, Department of Gastroenterology, Changdu People's Hospital of Xizang, Changdu 854000, Tibet Autonomous Region, China
reviewed.	Jian Yang, Jun-Wen Zhang, Department of Gastroenterology. The First Affiliated Hospital of
Peer-review model: Single blind	Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400016, China
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	Corresponding author: Jian Yang, MD, PhD, Associate Chief Physician, Deputy Director, Department of Gastroenterology, Changdu People's Hospital of Xizang, No. 168 South Road
Grade A (Excellent): 0	Gate, Karuo District, Changdu 854000, Tibet Autonomous Region, China.
Grade B (Very good): B	yanghan@nospital.eqinu.edu.en
Grade C (Good): 0	
Grade D (Fair): 0	Abstract
Grade E (Poor): 0	Absilder
P-Reviewer: Burnet M, Germany	BACKGROUND Gastric variceal hemorrhage is one of the primary manifestations of left-sided
Received: October 6, 2023	portal hypertension (LSPH). The hemorrhage is fatal and requires safe and
Peer-review started: October 6,	effective interventions.
2023	AIM
First decision: December 6, 2023	To evaluate the clinical safety and efficacy of modified endoscopic ultrasound
Revised: December 7, 2023	(EUS)-guided selective N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate (NBC) injections for gastric
Accepted: December 27, 2023	variceal hemorrhage in LSPH.
Article in press: December 27, 2023	METHODE
Published online: January 16, 2024	A retrospective observational study of patients with LSPH-induced gastric



variceal hemorrhage was conducted. Preoperative EUS evaluations were performed. Enrolled patients were divided into modified and conventional groups according to the NBC injection technique. The final selection of NBC injection technique depended on the patients' preferences and clinical status. The technical and clinical success rates, operation time, NBC doses, perioperative complications, postoperative hospital stay, and recurrent bleeding rates were analyzed, respectively.

RESULTS



A total of 27 patients were enrolled. No statistically significant differences were observed between the two groups regarding baseline characteristics. In comparison to patients in the conventional group, patients in the modified group demonstrated significantly reduced NBC doses ($2.0 \pm 0.6 \text{ mL} vs 3.1 \pm 1.0 \text{ mL}$; *P* = 0.004) and increased endoscopic operation time (71.9 ± 11.9 min *vs* 22.5 ± 6.7 min; *P* < 0.001). Meanwhile, the two groups had no significant difference in the technical and clinical success rates, perioperative complications, postoperative hospital stay, and recurrent bleeding rates.

CONCLUSION

Modified EUS-guided selective NBC injections demonstrated safety and efficacy for LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage, with advantages of reduced injection dose and no radiation risk. Drawbacks were time consumption and technical challenge.

Key Words: Endoscopic ultrasound; Selective; N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate; Gastric varices; Hemorrhage; Left-sided portal hypertension

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Gastric variceal hemorrhage is a severe and critical complication of left-sided portal hypertension (LSPH). Endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided interventions are emerging endoscopic treatments with diagnostic and therapeutic potential. Our study revealed that EUS-guided selective N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate injection is a safe and effective treatment alternative for patients with LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage, with reduced N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate doses and satisfactory technical and clinical success rates.

Citation: Zeng Y, Yang J, Zhang JW. Safety and efficacy of modified endoscopic ultrasound-guided selective N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate injections for gastric variceal hemorrhage in left-sided portal hypertension. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2024; 16(1): 29-36 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v16/i1/29.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.29

INTRODUCTION

Left-sided portal hypertension (LSPH) is caused by splenic vein stenosis, thrombosis, or obstruction, with pancreatic diseases as the most common etiology[1,2], among which pancreatitis and pancreatic tumors account for the leading causes of LSPH[3,4]. Clinical symptoms of LSPH are attributed to an increase in the pressure gradient between the portal vein and the inferior vena cava[5]. Gastric variceal hemorrhage is one of the primary manifestations and the foremost cause of emergency department visits in LSPH patients[6], first described in 1969[7]. Given normal liver function and no obvious clinical symptoms in LSPH patients, gastric varices (GV) have received little attention, and their hemorrhage can be unexpected and fatal[8]. Thus, safe and effective interventions are required.

In recent years, the widespread use of digestive endoscopy in clinical practice has led to a gradual shift in patient preference towards minimally invasive endoscopic techniques, especially in the field of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)[9, 10]. EUS has demonstrated convenience and promise in diagnostic procedures and hemostatic interventions for GV due to the combined function of endoscopy and ultrasound[11]. Moreover, EUS-guided GV therapy offers a safer and more practical alternative than the conventional therapy of endoscopic N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate (NBC) injection[12,13].

Based on previous studies, we reported a modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection procedure in a patient with LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage[6]. The preliminary advantages of this modified procedure included reduced NBC doses, radiation avoidance, and a firmer obliteration effect with fewer rebleedings caused by glue ulcers[6]. We conducted this retrospective study in our single center to verify these clinical values and provide more basis for future research on EUS-guided GV treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and study population

This retrospective study received approval from the Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University. We retrospectively reviewed qualified LSPH patients from the First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University from October 2019 to September 2023. All enrolled patients were diagnosed with LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage and received endoscopic NBC injections. Written informed consent was obtained from all the patients before each endoscopic procedure. Exclusion criteria included previous endoscopic hemostasis, severe organ dysfunction, or other conditions unsuitable for endoscopic procedures.

Endoscopic interventions

The final selection of NBC injection technique types (modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection or conventional endoscopic NBC injection) depended on the patients' preferences and clinical status. Patients electing conventional endoscopic NBC injection constituted the conventional group and received conventional sandwich injection^[14], while patients electing modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection formed the modified group and received selective NBC injection under EUS guidance (Linear Pentax echoendoscope, Hoya Co., Tokyo, Japan) (Figure 1)[6].

Postoperative follow-up and data collection

The technical and clinical success rates, operation time, NBC doses, perioperative complications, and postoperative hospital stay were collected from inpatient medical records and analyzed. The follow-up records were reviewed 1, 3 and 6 mo after the NBC injections. Recurrent upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage rates were derived from the routine outpatient follow-up at the Gastroenterology Department. Only patients with complete medical records were included.

Data analysis

Continuous variables and categorical were expressed as means \pm SD and n (%), respectively. Unpaired Student's t test and Mann-Whitney U test were used for continuous variables, while the χ^2 and Fisher's exact tests were performed for categorical variables. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 23.0, and statistical significance was defined as P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

This study preliminarily enrolled 30 patients. However, some participants underwent splenectomy or had both modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection procedures and conventional endoscopic NBC injection procedures during the follow-up period and, therefore, were excluded. Thus, the final number of qualified participants in the conventional and modified groups was 16 and 11, respectively (Figure 2). Significant differences were not observed between the two groups regarding baseline characteristics (Table 1). The median age was 46.6 (range 24.0-68.0) years for the modified group and 47.9 (range 29.0-68.0) years for the conventional group. Seven patients in the modified group (63.6%) and 11 in the conventional group (68.8%) were male (P = 0.78). In all enrolled patients, the three most common causes for LSPHinduced GV hemorrhage were, in order, walled-off necrosis (12/27, 44.4%), pancreatic pseudocyst (8/27, 29.6%) and pancreatitis (5/27, 18.5%). Eight patients in the modified group (72.8%) and 12 in the conventional group (75.0%) were diagnosed with walled-off necrosis or pancreatic pseudocyst (P = 0.93) (Table 1).

Safety and efficacy of endoscopic procedures in two groups

Technical success was defined as successful injection and absolute occlusion of the targeted GV, while clinical success was defined as the resolution or improvement of gastric variceal hemorrhage. The technical success rate was 100% for both types of injection procedures, and clinical success rates were 90.9% and 100% in the modified and conventional groups, respectively (P = 0.41). The technical and clinical success rates were not significantly different between the groups (Table 2).

Perioperative complications included ectopic embolization, local venous thrombosis, extravascular injection, severe new-onset bleeding following the needle removal, and the early appearance of glue ulcers[15,16]. In comparison to patients in the conventional group, patients in the modified group demonstrated significantly reduced NBC doses (2.0 ± 0.6 mL vs 3.1 ± 1.0 mL; P = 0.004) and increased endoscopic operation time (71.9 ± 11.9 min vs 22.5 ± 6.7 min; P < 0.001). Meanwhile, the perioperative complications, postoperative hospital stay, and recurrent bleeding rates for patients in the modified group were 0%, 4.4 ± 1.6 d, and 9.1%, respectively, vs 6.3%, 5.8 ± 2.2 d, and 18.8% for those in the conventional group. The two groups had no significant difference in the perioperative complications, postoperative hospital stay, and recurrent bleeding rates (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

This present study built on our prior research and compared the safety and efficacy of a modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection procedure for gastric variceal hemorrhage in LSPH with conventional endoscopic NBC injection procedures. To the best of our knowledge, no similar studies had previously been reported in the literature.

Our result revealed consistency with previous research that LSPH was most common in patients with pancreatic disease, especially those with walled-off necrosis and pancreatic pseudocyst[17,18], which occurred because of the anatomical proximity between the splenic vein and the pancreas[6]. Therefore, regular follow-ups should be scheduled for LSPH patients to reduce unexpected and fatal bleeding. Moreover, when considering endoscopic minimally invasive procedures, sufficient attention to intraoperative and postoperative bleeding should be paid to patients with pancreatic pseudocysts or walled-off necrosis[2,19].

Although endoscopic NBC injection was recommended with great clinical value in achieving hemostasis in LSPH patients[20], conventional injection procedures have striking defects in identifying varices below the gastric mucosal layer, locating culprit vessels during massive gastric hemorrhage, and reducing possible operation-related complications,

Zeng Y et al. Modified EUS-guided hemostasis in LSPH-induced GV

Table 1 Study population and comparison of two groups, n (%)			
Value	Modified group (<i>n</i> = 11)	Conventional group (<i>n</i> = 16)	P value
Age (yr)	46.6 ± 11.6	47.9 ± 10.2	0.756
Gender			1.000
Female	4 (36.4)	5 (31.3)	
Male	7 (63.6)	11 (68.8)	
Etiology			0.932
Pancreatitis	2 (18.1)	3 (18.8)	
Pancreatic pseudocyst	4 (36.4)	4 (25.0)	
Walled-off necrosis	4 (36.4)	8 (50.0)	
Pancreatic tumors	1 (9.1)	1 (6.2)	

Table 2 Endoscopic operation and follow-up data of two groups, n (%)			
Value	Modified group (<i>n</i> = 11)	Conventional group (n = 16)	P value
Technical success rates	11/11 (100)	16/16 (100)	
Clinical success rates	10/11 (90.9)	16/16 (100)	0.407
Operation time (min)	71.9 ± 11.9	22.5 ± 6.7	< 0.001
NBC doses (mL)	2.0 ± 0.6	3.1 ± 1.0	0.004
Perioperative complications			1.000
Ectopic embolization	0/11 (0)	0/16 (0)	
Local venous thrombosis	0/11 (0)	0/16 (0)	
Extravascular injection	0/11 (0)	0/16 (0)	
Severe new-onset bleeding	0/11 (0)	1/16 (6.3)	
Early appearance of glue ulcers	0/11 (0)	0/16 (0)	
Postoperative hospital stay (d)	4.4 ± 1.6	5.8 ± 2.2	0.072
Recurrent bleeding			0.624
Rebleeding in 1 mo	0/11 (0)	0/16 (0)	
Rebleeding in 1-3 mo	0/11 (0)	1/16 (6.3)	
Rebleeding in 4-6 mo	1/11 (9.1)	2/16 (12.5)	

including ectopic embolization and extravascular injection[21-23]. These deficiencies also place new demands on further developments of endoscopic procedures. EUS is a productive and promising approach to perform real-time ultrasonic scanning and interventions for GV, perforating feeding veins, portal vein and its tributaries, and collateral circulation[11, 24]. EUS-guided NBC injection in GV patients revealed superior clinical outcomes than conventional endoscopic injection dual to properties of NBC dosage reduction, better obliteration, and fewer recurrences and rebleedings[13,25].

We applied this modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection in LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage patients, and we found that it was, first and foremost, safe and effective in this retrospective study in our single center. Safety is the primary premise and final goal of exploring technical development. Compared with conventional endoscopic injection, this modified procedure did not increase the incidence of perioperative complications, nor would it prolong the patient's hospital stay. Meanwhile, more cases were included in this study to verify our previous research and testify to the benefits of NBC dosage reduction and its consequent reduced medical cost and complications[6]. Reducing glue-related complications focuses on effectively minimizing the injection dose, including endoscopic clips-assisted injection, balloon-occluded retrograde transvenous obliteration (BRTO), combined deployment of embolization coils and cyanoacrylate, and our modified procedure in our study can locate the puncture site more accurately in real time; the injection depth and angle can be precisely controlled; the injection can be timely terminated through observing the real-time flow blocking effect; and it can help avoid extravascular injection and reduce the total injection dose; avoid radiation exposure during the combined coil deployment or BRTO; and reduce related medical costs. It is also worth noting that the operation time was significantly longer in the modified group than in the conventional group. We considered that was



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.29 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2024.

Figure 1 Endoscopic procedure for patients in modified group. A: Gastroscopy revealed gastric varices (GV) with active bleeding; B: A confluence of GV was identified and selected as the injection site; C: N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate (orange arrow) was injected into the selected gastric varix; D: Hyperechoic fillings (orange arrow) and decreased blood flow signals were observed after injections.



Figure 2 Flowchart of patients included in the study.

relevant to time consumption in confirming the ideal puncture site during the EUS procedure. Therefore, this method is currently unsuitable for endoscopic centers lacking relevant experience, nor is it applicable for critically ill patients with unstable vital signs who need urgent endoscopic hemostasis.

EUS technology and equipment have not been satisfactorily popularized in many Asian regions, and there is still a significant training demand for many endoscopic interventional operations, including EUS-guided GV procedures[29]. Compared to these more difficult and time-consuming EUS-guided GV procedures, the technique and equipment required for conventional injection are more accessible to acquire and, therefore, cannot be discarded[30]. It was also noticed in the inclusion phase of this study that two patients shifted from the original modified procedure to the conventional method in their follow-up endoscopic treatment. We presume that this was because of the advantages of the conventional operation in reducing difficulties and operation time. Consequently, a multidisciplinary discussion team is a widely recommended approach to selecting the most appropriate individual treatment.

There were three main limitations. First, this was a retrospective observational study. Our findings are limited by the study design, and future prospective randomized controlled studies are needed. Second, this was a single-center study, and EUS-guided operations are noticeably affected by technical conditions and experience levels. In the future, multicenter studies involving more endoscopy centers in multiple tertiary hospitals are needed. Third, the sample size was small and had a specific regional characteristic. On the one hand, the small number of enrolled patients was because LSPH is a rare cause of GV and consequent hemorrhage[31,32]. On the other hand, since the our endoscopic center is a regional center for treating severe pancreatitis, most patients included in this study had complications such as pancreatic pseudocyst or walled-off necrosis, which may have had an unavoidable impact on the results. Therefore, future studies need to include more LSPH patients with varied causes.

CONCLUSION

Modified EUS-guided selective NBC injections demonstrated safety and efficacy for LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage, with advantages mainly in reducing injection dose and having no radiation risk. The drawbacks included that the procedure was time-consuming and technically challenging to perform. Therefore, this procedure is recommended for complicated patients in experienced endoscopy centers.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Left-sided portal hypertension (LSPH) is often secondary to pancreatic diseases, including pancreatitis and pancreatic tumors. Given normal liver function and no obvious clinical symptoms in LSPH patients, gastric varices (GV) have received little attention.

Research motivation

To study the clinical value of our previously reported modified endoscopic ultrasound (EUS)-guided selective N-butyl-2cyanoacrylate (NBC) injection procedure in patients with LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage.

Research objectives

To evaluate and compare the clinical safety and efficacy between modified EUS-guided selective NBC injections and conventional endoscopic NBC injection procedures for gastric variceal hemorrhage in LSPH.

Research methods

LSPH patients from the First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University were retrospectively reviewed and analyzed from October 2019 to September 2023. The technical and clinical success rates, operation time, NBC doses, perioperative complications, postoperative hospital stay, and recurrent bleeding rates of the modified and conventional groups were analyzed.

Research results

The technical success rate was 100% for both types of injection procedures, and clinical success rates were 90.9% and 100% in the modified and conventional groups, respectively (P = 0.41). In comparison to patients in the conventional group, patients in the modified group demonstrated significantly reduced NBC doses ($2.0 \pm 0.6 \text{ mL} vs 3.1 \pm 1.0 \text{ mL}$; P = 0.004) and increased endoscopic operation time ($71.9 \pm 11.9 \text{ min} vs 22.5 \pm 6.7 \text{ min}$; P < 0.001). Meanwhile, the perioperative complications, postoperative hospital stay, and recurrent bleeding rates for patients in the modified group were 0%, $4.4 \pm 1.6 \text{ d}$, and 9.1%, respectively, vs 6.3%, $5.8 \pm 2.2 \text{ d}$, and 18.8% for those in the conventional group.

Research conclusions

The modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection procedure demonstrated reduced injection dose and no increased perioperative complications compared to conventional endoscopic NBC injection procedures. Thus, it is safe and effective in treating patients with LSPH-induced gastric variceal hemorrhage.

Research perspectives

This present study built on our prior research and compared the safety and efficacy of a modified EUS-guided selective NBC injection procedure for gastric variceal hemorrhage in LSPH with conventional endoscopic NBC injection procedures. EUS-guided advanced endoscopic procedures will undoubtedly be the future direction of endoscopic treatment.

Raishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Zeng Y, Yang J and Zhang JW conceptualized and designed the research; Zeng Y and Yang J performed the literature search, analyzed the data, and wrote the original manuscript; Yang J and Zhang JW performed the endoscopic procedures and edited the final manuscript; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by Program for Youth Innovation in Future Medicine, Chongqing Medical University, China, No. W0138.

Institutional review board statement: This retrospective study received approval from the Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yan Zeng 0000-0003-4935-1306; Jian Yang 0000-0001-8170-0727; Jun-Wen Zhang 0000-0003-2911-598X.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: Digestive Endoscopy Branch of Chinese Medical Association.

S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: Kerr C P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- 1 Yu D, Li X, Gong J, Li J, Xie F, Hu J. Left-sided portal hypertension caused by peripancreatic lymph node tuberculosis misdiagnosed as pancreatic cancer: a case report and literature review. BMC Gastroenterol 2020; 20: 276 [PMID: 32811429 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-020-01420-x
- Zheng K, Guo X, Feng J, Bai Z, Shao X, Yi F, Zhang Y, Zhang R, Liu H, Romeiro FG, Qi X. Gastrointestinal Bleeding due to Pancreatic 2 Disease-Related Portal Hypertension. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2020; 2020: 3825186 [PMID: 32308674 DOI: 10.1155/2020/3825186]
- Madsen MS, Petersen TH, Sommer H. Segmental portal hypertension. Ann Surg 1986; 204: 72-77 [PMID: 3729585 DOI: 3 10.1097/00000658-198607000-00010]
- Moyana TN, Macdonald DB, Martel G, Pyatibrat S, Lee G, Capitano M. Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors Complicated by Sinistral Portal 4 Hypertension: Insights into Pathogenesis. J Pancreat Cancer 2017; 3: 71-77 [PMID: 30631846 DOI: 10.1089/pancan.2017.0017]
- 5 Zacharias AP, Jeyaraj R, Hobolth L, Bendtsen F, Gluud LL, Morgan MY. Carvedilol vs traditional, non-selective beta-blockers for adults with cirrhosis and gastroesophageal varices. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018; 10: CD011510 [PMID: 30372514 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011510.pub2]
- Yang J, Zeng Y, Zhang JW. Modified endoscopic ultrasound-guided selective N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate injections for gastric variceal 6 hemorrhage in left-sided portal hypertension: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2022; 10: 6254-6260 [PMID: 35949826 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v10.i18.6254]
- Turrill FL, Mikkelsen WP. "Sinistral" (left-sided) extrahepatic portal hypertension. Arch Surg 1969; 99: 365-368 [PMID: 5306330 DOI: 7 10.1001/archsurg.1969.01340150073014]
- 8 Sarin SK, Lahoti D, Saxena SP, Murthy NS, Makwana UK. Prevalence, classification and natural history of gastric varices: a long-term follow-up study in 568 portal hypertension patients. *Hepatology* 1992; 16: 1343-1349 [PMID: 1446890 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840160607]
- Mann R, Goyal H, Perisetti A, Chandan S, Inamdar S, Tharian B. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided vascular interventions: Current insights and 9 emerging techniques. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 6874-6887 [PMID: 34790012 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i40.6874]
- Zeng Y, Yang J, Zhang JW. Endoscopic transluminal drainage and necrosectomy for infected necrotizing pancreatitis: Progress and challenges. 10 World J Clin Cases 2023; 11: 1888-1902 [PMID: 36998953 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v11.i9.1888]
- Yang J, Zeng Y, Zhang JW. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided diagnosis and treatment of gastric varices. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2022; 14: 748-758 [PMID: 36567822 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v14.i12.748]
- Oleas R, Robles-Medranda C. Endoscopic Treatment of Gastric and Ectopic Varices. Clin Liver Dis 2022; 26: 39-50 [PMID: 34802662 DOI: 12 10.1016/j.cld.2021.08.004]
- Mohan BP, Chandan S, Khan SR, Kassab LL, Trakroo S, Ponnada S, Asokkumar R, Adler DG. Efficacy and safety of endoscopic ultrasound-13 guided therapy vs direct endoscopic glue injection therapy for gastric varices: systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy 2020; 52: 259-



267 [PMID: 32028533 DOI: 10.1055/a-1098-1817]

- Wu K, Song Q, Gou Y, He S. Sandwich method with or without lauromacrogol in the treatment of gastric variceal bleeding with liver 14 cirrhosis: A meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e16201 [PMID: 31261565 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000016201]
- 15 Guo YW, Miao HB, Wen ZF, Xuan JY, Zhou HX. Procedure-related complications in gastric variceal obturation with tissue glue. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 7746-7755 [PMID: 29209115 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i43.7746]
- 16 Al-Hillawi L, Wong T, Tritto G, Berry PA. Pitfalls in histoacryl glue injection therapy for oesophageal, gastric and ectopic varices: A review. World J Gastrointest Surg 2016; 8: 729-734 [PMID: 27933134 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v8.i11.729]
- Sriram PV, Kaffes AJ, Rao GV, Reddy DN. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts complicated by portal 17 hypertension or by intervening vessels. Endoscopy 2005; 37: 231-235 [PMID: 15731938 DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-860997]
- Cao F, Li A, Wang X, Gao C, Li J, Li F. Laparoscopic transgastric necrosectomy in treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis with sinistral 18 portal hypertension. BMC Surg 2021; 21: 362 [PMID: 34629061 DOI: 10.1186/s12893-021-01361-6]
- Rana SS, Sharma R, Ahmed SU, Gupta R. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural drainage of walled-off pancreatic necrosis in patients 19 with portal hypertension and intra-abdominal collaterals. Indian J Gastroenterol 2017; 36: 400-404 [PMID: 28971378 DOI: 10.1007/s12664-017-0792-y
- Al-Khazraji A, Curry MP. The current knowledge about the therapeutic use of endoscopic sclerotherapy and endoscopic tissue adhesives in 20 variceal bleeding. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 13: 893-897 [PMID: 31389265 DOI: 10.1080/17474124.2019.1652092]
- 21 Cheng LF, Wang ZQ, Li CZ, Lin W, Yeo AE, Jin B. Low incidence of complications from endoscopic gastric variceal obturation with butyl cyanoacrylate. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 8: 760-766 [PMID: 20621678 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.05.019]
- 22 Soualy A, Walter A, Sutter O, Nault JC. Acute pericarditis: A rare complication of gastric variceal obturation with cyanoacrylate glue. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2020; 44: e25-e28 [PMID: 31401042 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2019.06.016]
- 23 Gubler C, Bauerfeind P. Safe and successful endoscopic initial treatment and long-term eradication of gastric varices by endoscopic ultrasound-guided Histoacryl (N-butyl-2-cyanoacrylate) injection. Scand J Gastroenterol 2014; 49: 1136-1142 [PMID: 24947448 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2014.929171]
- Hammoud GM, Ibdah JA. Utility of endoscopic ultrasound in patients with portal hypertension. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 14230-24 14236 [PMID: 25339809 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i39.14230]
- Sabry F, Seif S, Eldesoky A, Hakim H, Altonbary AY. EUS-guided cyanoacrylate injection into the perforating vein vs direct endoscopic 25 injection in the treatment of gastric varices. Endosc Int Open 2023; 11: E202-E210 [PMID: 36845270 DOI: 10.1055/a-1984-7070]
- Zhang M, Li P, Mou H, Shi Y, Tuo B, Jin S, Sun R, Wang G, Ma J, Zhang C. Clip-assisted endoscopic cyanoacrylate injection for gastric 26 varices with a gastrorenal shunt: a multicenter study. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 936-940 [PMID: 31378856 DOI: 10.1055/a-0977-3022]
- 27 Prajapati R, Ranjan P, Gupta A, Yadav AK. Balloon-Occluded Retrograde Transvenous Obliteration (BRTO): A Novel Method of Control of Bleeding from Post-Glue Ulcer over Gastric Varices. Report of Two Cases and Review of Literature. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2016; 6: 326-330 [PMID: 28003724 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2016.08.005]
- Robles-Medranda C, Oleas R, Valero M, Puga-Tejada M, Baquerizo-Burgos J, Ospina J, Pitanga-Lukashok H. Endoscopic ultrasonography-28 guided deployment of embolization coils and cyanoacrylate injection in gastric varices vs coiling alone: a randomized trial. Endoscopy 2020; 52: 268-275 [PMID: 32126576 DOI: 10.1055/a-1123-9054]
- Wong JYY, Kongkam P, Ho KY. Training in endoscopic ultrasonography: An Asian perspective. Dig Endosc 2017; 29: 512-516 [PMID: 29 28066947 DOI: 10.1111/den.12802]
- 30 Lo GH. Should we pursue high obliteration rate or high hemostatic rate in the therapy of gastric varices? Endoscopy 2020; 52: 709 [PMID: 32722839 DOI: 10.1055/a-1167-8274]
- Köklü S, Coban S, Yüksel O, Arhan M. Left-sided portal hypertension. Dig Dis Sci 2007; 52: 1141-1149 [PMID: 17385040 DOI: 31 10.1007/s10620-006-9307-x]
- Abraham M, Doshi S, Asfari MM, Yap JEL, Bowers HG. Isolated Gastric Variceal Hemorrhage Secondary to Idiopathic Sinistral Portal 32 Hypertension. Cureus 2021; 13: e16165 [PMID: 34367775 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.16165]



F W U

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 37-43

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.37

Observational Study

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Adverse events associated with the gold probe and the injection gold probe devices used for endoscopic hemostasis: A MAUDE database analysis

Vishnu Charan Suresh Kumar, Mark Aloysius, Ganesh Aswath

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Qi XS, China; Wang S, China

Received: October 9, 2023 Peer-review started: October 9, 2023 First decision: November 16, 2023 Revised: November 22, 2023 Accepted: December 5, 2023 Article in press: December 5, 2023 Published online: January 16, 2024



Vishnu Charan Suresh Kumar, Mark Aloysius, Ganesh Aswath, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, SUNY Upstate Medical University, Syracuse, NY 13202, United States

Corresponding author: Vishnu Charan Suresh Kumar, MBBS, Doctor, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, SUNY Upstate Medical University, 750 E Adams Street, Syracuse, NY 13202, United States. kumarv@upstate.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding accounts for over half a million admissions annually and is the most common GI diagnosis requiring hospitalization in the United States. Bipolar electrocoagulation devices are used for the management of gastrointestinal bleeding. There is no data on device-related adverse events for gold probe (GP) and injection gold probe (IGP).

AIM

To analyze this using the Food and Drug Administration (FDA's) Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience (MAUDE) database from 2013 to 2023.

METHODS

We examined post-marketing surveillance data on GP and IGP from the FDA MAUDE database to report devicerelated and patient-related adverse events between 2013-2023. The MAUDE database is a publicly available resource providing over 4 million records relating to medical device safety. Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics V.27.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States).

RESULTS

Our search elicited 140 reports for GP and 202 reports for IGP, respec-tively, during the study period from January 2013 to August 2023. Malfunctions reportedly occurred in 130 cases for GP, and actual patient injury or event occurred in 10 patients. A total of 149 patients (74%) reported with Injection GP events suffered no significant consequences due to the device failure, but 53 patients (26%) were affected by an event.

CONCLUSION



GP and IGP are critical in managing gastrointestinal bleeding. This study of the FDA MAUDE database revealed the type, number, and trends of reported device-related adverse events. The endoscopist and support staff must be aware of these device-related events and be equipped to manage them if they occur.

Key Words: Hemostasis; Gastrointestinal bleeding; Endoscopy; Device failure; Bipolar coagulation; Cautery; Risks

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Gold probe (GP) and injection gold probe (IGP) are critical in managing gastrointestinal bleeding. This study of the Food and Drug Administration Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience database revealed the type, number, and trends of reported device-related adverse events. Our search elicited 140 reports for GP and 202 reports for IGP, respectively, during the study period from January 2013 to August 2023. Malfunctions reportedly occurred in 130 cases for GP, and actual patient injury or event occurred in 10 patients. 149 patients (74%) reported with IGP events suffered no significant consequences due to the device failure, but 53 patients (26%) were affected by an event. The endoscopist and support staff must be aware of these device-related events and be equipped to manage them if they occur.

Citation: Kumar VCS, Aloysius M, Aswath G. Adverse events associated with the gold probe and the injection gold probe devices used for endoscopic hemostasis: A MAUDE database analysis. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024; 16(1): 37-43 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v16/i1/37.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.37

INTRODUCTION

Gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding accounts for over half a million admissions annually and is the most common GI diagnosis requiring hospitalization in the United States[1]. Lesions with high-risk stigmata, which are associated with high rates of recurrent bleeding (50% to 80%) and result in significant morbidity if treated with medical therapy alone. Thus, the latest American College of Gastroenterology (ACG) guidelines recommend endoscopic therapy for ulcers with active spurting or oozing and nonbleeding visible vessels. The management of nonvariceal upper GI bleed (UGIB) has evolved tremendously with the advent of therapeutic endoscopic hemostasis devices and techniques. Studies have shown that thermal contact devices such as bipolar electrocoagulation and heater probes decrease the incidence of re-bleeding compared with no endoscopic therapy[2].

Overall, devices used to achieve hemostasis using thermal therapy were safe. The serious adverse events associated with these devices include uncontrollable bleeding and perforation[3]. Pooled data showed that the rate of bleeding that required urgent surgery was 0.3%, and perforation was 0.5% [4].

The gold probe (GP) and injection gold probe (IGP) (Boston Scientific Corp., Natick, Mass.) are two commonly used devices to achieve endoscopic hemostasis. IGP can deliver an injection as well as thermal therapy. No data on devicerelated adverse events for these devices used routinely to achieve endoscopic hemostasis is available.

Thus, we aimed to evaluate the events associated with using Gold Probe and Injection Gold Probe using the Food and Drug Administration (FDA's) Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience (MAUDE) database from 2013 to 2023.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We examined post-marketing surveillance data on GP and IGP from the FDA MAUDE database to report devicerelated and patient-related adverse events. The MAUDE database is a publicly available resource providing over 4 million records relating to medical device safety. The MAUDE database has medical device reports (MDRs) submitted to the FDA by mandatory reporters (manufacturers, importers, and device user facilities) and voluntary reporters such as healthcare professionals, patients and consumers (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfmaude/search.cfm#fn 1).

It consists of four primary (Master Event, Device, Patient, Text) and two supplemental (Device Problems and Problem Code Descriptions) file types, which, when combined, provide a detailed account of an adverse event or product problem report. Healthcare professionals have used MAUDE to review events associated with specific products or procedures. Several articles referencing MAUDE have been published analyzing adverse events specific to a particular outcome, product, or body system. It is publicly available online and de-identified. Therefore, no institutional review board approval was required for this study.

Outcomes and statistical analysis

We queried the MAUDE database from January 2013 to August 2023. The MAUDE web search feature is limited to adverse event reports within the past ten years. The data was analyzed for device issues and patient adverse events. The



primary outcome measure of this study was the failure modes of the endoscopic diathermy *Gold Probe*TM (Ò Boston Scientific) and injection diathermy *Injection Gold Probe*TM (Ò Boston Scientific). Secondary outcomes included significant complications associated with device failure. The MAUDE database cannot capture the utilization of IGP in the United States; therefore, the actual incidence rate of each failure or complication type cannot be assessed. Categorical variables were presented as numbers; all statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics V.27.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States).

RESULTS

Our search elicited 140 reports for GP and 202 reports for IGP, respectively, during the study period from January 2013 to August 2023. The procedure type for GP use was esophagogastroduodenoscopy (47) followed by colonoscopy (25), bronchoscopy (7), endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) (6), enteroscopy (3), missing procedure information (52), Table 1. The procedure types for IGP were esophagogastroduodenoscopy (174) followed by colonoscopy (16), ERCP (11), and enteroscopy (1), Table 2.

Primary outcomes outlining failure modes for the GP and IGP is outlined in Tables 3 and 4. GP failure modes were failure to deliver energy (107), followed by material separation or fracture of the probe tip (28), arcing (1), missing component (1), bent tip (1), and detachment of device (2). IGP failure modes were failure to deliver energy (115), followed by material separation or fracture of the probe tip (34), crack (9), device detachment (27), material puncture (5), and mechanical problems (12).

Malfunctions reportedly occurred in 130 cases for GP, and actual patient injury or event occurred in 10 patients. In assessing secondary outcomes, no deaths were reported, although two patients experienced prolonged hemorrhage and two fiberoptic endoscopes were damaged by the device; 7 patients required a secondary procedure to retrieve the detached probe. Most patients with a reported GP event suffered no significant consequences due to the device failure (93%), but 7% required a second procedure or experienced prolonged stay or discomfort, Table 5. Most patients reported with IGP events (74%) suffered no significant consequences due to the device failure, but 26% of patients were affected by an event (prolonged hemorrhage, need for a secondary procedure due to a detached probe), Table 6. Reports by year decreased significantly after 2017 for both GP and IGP, Table 7.

DISCUSSION

Our study comprehensively analyzes events reported with GP and IGP from 2013 to 2023. For both GP and IGP, the most reported problem is the "failure to deliver energy." Investigating the root cause of this recurrent issue with these devices is imperative. If user error is identified as a significant factor, offering additional training to the healthcare professionals using these devices and refining the user guidelines would be beneficial.

The significantly higher number of reported events with IGP devices than with GP devices is noteworthy. While a higher usage frequency might contribute to the increased reporting, the pronounced rate of patient-related adverse events stemming from IGP failures cannot be dismissed lightly. Especially concerning are instances requiring repeat procedures, as they amplify the risk profile for patients and accentuate the resource burdens on healthcare institutions.

The manufacturer for the GP and IGP reports patient-related adverse events, including perforation, bleeding, aspiration pneumonia, and septicemia/infection, and reports a potential electrical hazard to the patient and operator with possible adverse including fulguration, burns, stimulation, and cardiac arrhythmia[5]. However, there have been no studies so far that have looked at the device-related events that could occur with GP and IGP. Our study is the first to analyze the device-related events reported. It sheds light on device-related complications, thus enhancing the existing knowledge pool crucial for daily clinical applications. Data regarding other bipolar devices was sparse and thus a comparative analysis could not be done.

The 2021 ACG guidelines for managing UGIB strongly recommend endoscopic hemostatic therapy with bipolar electrocoagulation, heater probe, or injection of absolute ethanol for patients with UGIB due to ulcers. Several studies have proven the efficacy and overall safety of GP and IGP to manage gastrointestinal hemorrhage[2,6,7]. The safety and efficacy of bipolar devices have been also established while managing lower GI bleeding[8,9]. GP and IGP are Bipolar devices used to manage GI bleeding during endoscopy. Given the ubiquity of these bipolar devices in clinical scenarios, endoscopists, and auxiliary staff must be apprised of potential device-related pitfalls.

Interestingly, the findings of this study also suggest that there was a decline in the events for both IGP and GP from 2017. Endoscopists familiarity with the device and adequate training in its usage, and manufacturer's improvement of the quality of the device could have led to fewer events. Usage of other hemostatic devices could have also contributed to this. Over-the-Scope Clips (OTSC) has been shown to be as effective as standard therapy in non-variceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding since 2017[10]. OTSC has also proven effective in large ulcers up to 5 cm[11], with a high success rate of hemostasis (80%) even in recurrent bleeding and has also competed with GP and IGP as first line hemostatic method since 2017[12].

At around the same time, hemostatic aerosolized powders such as TC 325 (Hemospray) have become part of the hemostatic armamentarium available to the endoscopist, especially effective in the setting of diffuse mucosal bleeding[13, 15].

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Reported procedure type in which gold probe was used		
Procedure	Number	
Bronchoscopy	7	
Colonoscopy	25	
Esophagogastroduodenoscopy	47	
Enteroscopy	3	
Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography	6	
Missing	52	
Total	140	

Table 2 Reported procedure type in which injection gold probe was used		
Procedure	Number	
EGD	174	
Colonoscopy	16	
ERCP	11	
Enteroscopy	1	
Total	202	

 $EGD: Esophagogastroduodenoscopy; ERCP: Endoscopic \ retrograde \ cholangio pancreatography.$

Table 3 Failure Modes of gold probe (Primary Outcomes)		
Failure mode	Number	Percentage
Arcing	1	0.7
Component missing	1	0.7
Detachment of device component	1	0.7
Electrical connector broke during use	1	0.7
Failure to deliver energy	107	76.4
Material separation	28	20.0
Tip bent (from packaging)	1	0.7
Total	140	100.0

Table 4 Failure modes of injection gold probe (Primary Outcomes)			
Failure mode	Number	Percentage	
Crack	9	4.5	
Material separation	34	16.8	
Device detachment	27	13.4	
Failure to deliver energy	115	56.9	
Material puncture/hole	5	2.5	
Mechanical problem	12	5.9	
Total	202	100.0	



Baisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 Events affecting patients with gold probe failure (Secondary Outcomes)		
Events	Number	
Bowel burn	1	
Hemorrhage/Bleeding	1	
Prolonged hospital stay	1	
Removal requiring a second procedure	7	
Total	10	

Table 6 Events affecting patients or equipment with injection gold probe failure (Secondary Outcomes)		
Events	Number	
Prolonged hemorrhage	2	
The secondary procedure to retrieve the detached probe	48	
Probe damaged scope	3	
Total	53	

Table 7 Reports by year (2013-2023)		
Year	MAUDE reports for gold probe	MAUDE reports for injection gold probe
2013	32	38
2014	32	36
2015	17	33
2016	26	30
2017	14	23
2018	3	6
2019	3	9
2020	2	8
2021	4	7
2022	1	5
2023	6	7
Total	140	202

MAUDE: Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience.

These newer hemostatic technologies may have contributed to a decline in use of IGP and GP since 2017. It's also conceivable that the manufacturing process may have effectively addressed the prior device failure reports to redesign and improve quality control hence leading to a decline in the device malfunction/failure reports since 2017.

Guidelines for non-variceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding have emphasized that epinephrine injection needs to be combined with a secondary hemostatic modality and hence IGP use may have increased over GP use. IGP conveniently uses both injection and thermocoagulation sequentially without interruption to introduce another hemostatic method endoscopically. This may have contributed to increase in IGP use over GP and consequently higher device malfunction reports[15].

This study has limitations. The MAUDE web search feature is limited to adverse event reports within the past ten years. This passive surveillance system has its limitations. There is a potential for submission of incomplete, inaccurate, untimely, unverified, or biased data. In addition, the incidence or prevalence of an event cannot be determined from this reporting system alone due to under-reporting of events, inaccuracies in reports, lack of verification that the device caused the reported event, and lack of information about the frequency of the device use.

Baishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

GP and IGP are critical in managing gastrointestinal bleeding. This study of the FDA MAUDE database revealed the type, number, and trends of reported device-related adverse events. The endoscopist and support staff must be aware of these device-related events and be equipped to manage them if they occur.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research motivation

Gold probe (GP) and gold probe (GP) are vital in managing gastrointestinal bleeding, yet they present notable risks. Awareness of these risks is essential for endoscopists and support staff. The study highlights the need for improved device safety and better management strategies in case of device failure.

Research objectives

The analysis revealed 140 reports for GP and 202 reports for IGP, with the majority of device failures being attributed to the failure to deliver energy. While most events did not lead to significant patient consequences, a notable proportion (26% for IGP) resulted in adverse outcomes like prolonged hemorrhage or the need for secondary procedures.

Research methods

The study utilized post-marketing surveillance data from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA's) Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience (MAUDE) database, analyzing reports for GP and IGP from January 2013 to August 2023. Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics V.27.0 to identify primary and secondary outcome measures.

Research results

The primary objective is to evaluate the events associated with the use of GP and IGP, specifically focusing on the types and frequencies of device failures and their impact on patient outcomes.

Research conclusions

The motivation for this research stems from the lack of comprehensive data on device-related adverse events for GP and IGP, devices commonly used in managing gastrointestinal bleeding, despite their widespread clinical use.

Research perspectives

This study investigates the device-related adverse events associated with the use of GP and IGP in endoscopic hemostasis, leveraging data from the FDA's MAUDE database over a decade (2013-2023).

Research background

The findings underscore the need for ongoing surveillance, device improvement, and consideration of emerging hemostatic technologies. Further research into device design and usage guidelines could enhance safety and efficacy in clinical practice.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Suresh Kumar VC contributed to conceptualization, design, manuscript writing, and editing; Aloysius M contributed to design, statistical analysis, manuscript writing, and editing; Aswath G contributed to manuscript review and editing.

Institutional review board statement: This is a de-identified database-based study thus it was determined that no ethical approval/IRB is required.

Informed consent statement: For this study, we utilized a de-identified database, specifically the FDA's Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience (MAUDE) database, which contains anonymized and publicly available data. Given the retrospective and deidentified nature of the data analyzed, this study did not involve direct interaction with patients or access to identifiable patient information. Consequently, in accordance with ethical guidelines and research standards, informed consent was not required for this database-based study.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There are no conflicts of interest to report.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement - checklist of items.



Bishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Vishnu Charan Suresh Kumar 0000-0002-9472-2869; Mark Aloysius 0000-0001-6191-0524; Ganesh Aswath 0000-0002-1354-9225.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American College of Gastroenterology; American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy; American Gastroenterological Association.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Peery AF, Crockett SD, Murphy CC, Lund JL, Dellon ES, Williams JL, Jensen ET, Shaheen NJ, Barritt AS, Lieber SR, Kochar B, Barnes EL, 1 Fan YC, Pate V, Galanko J, Baron TH, Sandler RS. Burden and Cost of Gastrointestinal, Liver, and Pancreatic Diseases in the United States: Update 2018. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 254-272.e11 [PMID: 30315778 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.08.063]
- 2 Laine L, McQuaid KR. Endoscopic therapy for bleeding ulcers: an evidence-based approach based on meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 7: 33-47; quiz 1 [PMID: 18986845 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2008.08.016]
- Waterman M, Gralnek IM. Preventing complications of endoscopic hemostasis in acute upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage. Gastrointest 3 Endosc Clin N Am 2007; 17: 157-167, viii [PMID: 17397782 DOI: 10.1016/j.giec.2006.10.005]
- 4 Laine L, Peterson WL. Bleeding peptic ulcer. N Engl J Med 1994; 331: 717-727 [PMID: 8058080 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199409153311107]
- Bipolar Hemostasis Catheters. Injection Gold Probe™ and Gold Probe™. Available from: https://www.bostonscientific.com/en-US/ 5 products/probes/injection-gold-probe.html
- Cook DJ, Guyatt GH, Salena BJ, Laine LA. Endoscopic therapy for acute nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage: a meta-analysis. 6 Gastroenterology 1992; 102: 139-148 [PMID: 1530782 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(92)91793-4]
- Chung SC, Leung JW, Sung JY, Lo KK, Li AK. Injection or heat probe for bleeding ulcer. Gastroenterology 1991; 100: 33-37 [PMID: 7 1983848 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(91)90579-A]
- Jensen DM. Diagnosis and treatment of definitive diverticular hemorrhage (DDH). Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 1570-1573 [PMID: 8 29748559 DOI: 10.1038/s41395-018-0061-4]
- Sengupta N, Feuerstein JD, Jairath V, Shergill AK, Strate LL, Wong RJ, Wan D. Management of Patients With Acute Lower Gastrointestinal 9 Bleeding: An Updated ACG Guideline. Am J Gastroenterol 2023; 118: 208-231 [PMID: 36735555 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.00000000002130]
- Wedi E, von Renteln D, Gonzalez S, Tkachenko O, Jung C, Orkut S, Roth V, Tumay S, Hochberger J. Use of the over-the-scope-clip (OTSC) 10 in non-variceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding in patients with severe cardiovascular comorbidities: a retrospective study. Endosc Int Open 2017; 5: E875-E882 [PMID: 28924593 DOI: 10.1055/s-0043-105496]
- 11 Chan SM, Chiu PW, Teoh AY, Lau JY. Use of the Over-The-Scope Clip for treatment of refractory upper gastrointestinal bleeding: a case series. Endoscopy 2014; 46: 428-431 [PMID: 24505017 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1364932]
- Asokkumar R, Soetikno R, Sanchez-Yague A, Kim Wei L, Salazar E, Ngu JH. Use of over-the-scope-clip (OTSC) improves outcomes of 12 high-risk adverse outcome (HR-AO) non-variceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding (NVUGIB). Endosc Int Open 2018; 6: E789-E796 [PMID: 29977995 DOI: 10.1055/a-0614-2390]
- Yang E, Chang MA, Savides TJ. New Techniques to Control Gastrointestinal Bleeding. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 2019; 15: 471-479 13 [PMID: 31787854]
- Kwek BEA, Ang TL, Ong PLJ, Tan YLJ, Ang SWD, Law NM, Thurairajah PH, Fock KM. TC-325 versus the conventional combined 14 technique for endoscopic treatment of peptic ulcers with high-risk bleeding stigmata: A randomized pilot study. J Dig Dis 2017; 18: 323-329 [PMID: 28485544 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12481]
- Barkun AN, Almadi M, Kuipers EJ, Laine L, Sung J, Tse F, Leontiadis GI, Abraham NS, Calvet X, Chan FKL, Douketis J, Enns R, Gralnek 15 IM, Jairath V, Jensen D, Lau J, Lip GYH, Loffroy R, Maluf-Filho F, Meltzer AC, Reddy N, Saltzman JR, Marshall JK, Bardou M. Management of Nonvariceal Upper Gastrointestinal Bleeding: Guideline Recommendations From the International Consensus Group. Ann Intern Med 2019; 171: 805-822 [PMID: 31634917 DOI: 10.7326/M19-1795]



F WÛ

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2024 January 16; 16(1): 44-50

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.44

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study Upper gastrointestinal bleeding in Bangladeshi children: Analysis of 100 cases

Md Wahiduzzaman Mazumder, Md Benzamin

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Rodrigues AT, Brazil

Received: October 16, 2023 Peer-review started: October 16, 2023

First decision: November 9, 2023 Revised: November 20, 2023 Accepted: December 7, 2023 Article in press: December 7, 2023 Published online: January 16, 2024



Md Wahiduzzaman Mazumder, Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal*

Endoscopy

Md Benzamin, Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Sylhet M A G Osmani Medical College Hospital, Sylhet 3100, Bangladesh

Corresponding author: Md Wahiduzzaman Mazumder, FCPS, MD (Pediatric Gastroenterology), Associate professor, Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University, Shahbag, Dhaka 1000, Bangladesh. mazumdermw@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB) is defined as bleeding that occurs proximal to the ligament of Treitz and can sometimes lead to potentially serious and life-threatening clinical situations in children. Globally, the cause of UGIB differs significantly depending on the geographic location, patient population and presence of comorbid conditions.

AIM

To observe endoscopic findings of UGIB in children at a tertiary care center of Bangladesh.

METHODS

This retrospective study was carried out in the department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition of Bangabandhu Shiekh Mujib Medical University, a tertiary care hospital of Bangladesh, between January 2017 and January 2019. Data collected from hospital records of 100 children who were 16 years of age or younger, came with hematemesis, melena or both hematemesis and melena. All patients underwent upper gastrointestinal endoscopy (Olympus CV 1000 upper gastrointestinal video endoscope) after initial stabilization. Necessary investigations to diagnose portal hypertension and chronic liver disease with underlying causes for management purposes were also done.

RESULTS

A total of 100 patients were studied. UGIB was common in the age group 5-10 years (42%), followed by above 10 years (37%). Hematemesis was the most common presenting symptom (75%) followed by both hematemesis and melena



(25%). UGIB from ruptured esophageal varices was the most common cause (65%) on UGI endoscopy followed by gastric erosion (5%) and prolapsed gastropathy (2%). We observed that 23% of children were normal after endoscopic examination.

CONCLUSION

Ruptured esophageal varices were the most common cause of UGIB in children in Bangladesh. Other causes included gastric erosions and prolapsed gastropathy syndrome.

Key Words: Bangladeshi; Children; Endoscopy; Upper gastrointestinal bleeding; Esophageal varices

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Various etiologies are responsible for upper gastrointestinal bleeding. However, we found a wide range of etiologies including non-gastrointestinal causes in Bangladeshi children.

Citation: Mazumder MW, Benzamin M. Upper gastrointestinal bleeding in Bangladeshi children: Analysis of 100 cases. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2024; 16(1): 44-50

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v16/i1/44.htm **D0I:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.44

INTRODUCTION

Gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding is not uncommon in children. When the source of bleeding is proximal to the ligament of Treitz, it is defined as upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB) and when distal to the ligament of Treitz as lower gastrointestinal bleeding[1]. UGIB varies greatly in presentation and may provoke anxiety in the child, caregivers and healthcare providers. UGIB presents commonly as hematemesis, melena or both hematemesis and melena. Hematemesis is defined as vomiting of blood that may be bright red or coffee-ground color, small or large volume and may be associated with clots. A fistful of clots is nearly equivalent to 500 mL of blood[2]. Melena is black, tarry stool, and 60 mL of blood is the minimum quantity to produce melena. Blood is present for at least 6 h in the intestine[3]. UGIB is infrequent in children with an estimated incidence of 1-2/10000 per year[4], where the majority are self-limiting[5]. Significant UGIB is infrequent and remains a management challenge to clinicians.

Etiology of UGIB in children is diverse, and causes vary by age, geographical location and associated comorbidities[6, 7]. In older children and adolescents, significant causes of UGIB include variceal bleeding and peptic ulcer disease. Foreign body ingestion is rare in older children and adolescents. Common etiologies in infants are Mallory-Weiss tear and reflux esophagitis. Other common causes in neonates include swallowed maternal blood and milk protein allergy[7].

Management of patients with UGIB depends on an underlying cause, severity of bleeding and hemodynamic status of patient. There is a paucity of data regarding the etiology, mode of presentation and endoscopic findings of UGIB in children of Bangladesh. The purpose of the study was to observe endoscopic findings of 100 cases of UGIB admitted in the Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition of Banglabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University, a tertiary care hospital of Bangladesh.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This retrospective observational study was carried out in the department of Pediatric Gastroenterology of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University of Bangladesh. Data were collected from hospital records after approval from the departmental ethical committee. In total, 100 children who were 16 years of age or younger presented with hematemesis and/or melaena and underwent upper GI endoscopy after stabilization of vitals within 24-48 h. Patients who underwent sedation by parenteral midazolam and pethidine with preparations for resuscitation were included in this series. Patients who were older than 16 years of age or presented with bright red per rectal bleeding were excluded. Upper GI endoscopy was completed by an expert pediatric gastroenterologist of the same department with an Olympus CV 100 video endoscope model. All patients were treated according to the standard departmental protocol. Blood for grouping (ABO and Rh), routine complete blood count, and in selected cases blood liver biochemistry (alanine transaminase, serum albumin, prothrombin time) with Wilson's disease/autoimmune hepatitis panel were done. Stool for occult blood, along with Doppler ultrasonography of the abdomen for ascites, liver echotexture, portal vein thrombosis/cavernous malformation, diameter/pressure and splenomegaly were completed for all patients according to the departmental protocol. The study was approved by the departmental Ethics Committee. Statistical analyses were performed using frequency, means, standard deviations and proportions.

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.44 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2024.

Figure 1 Example of grade 4 esophageal varices.



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.44 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2024.

Figure 2 Blue rubber bleb nevus in the stomach.

RESULTS

A total of 100 children underwent UGI endoscopic evaluation during the study period. Among them, 62 were male (62%), and 38 (38%) were female. The mean age of the patients was 9 ± 4.25 years. Altogether, 22% of patients were younger than 5-years-old, 42% of patients were between 5-years-old and 10-years-old, and 36% of patients were above 10-years-old (Table 1). We observed that 15% of patients were admitted with impending shock (hypotension, tachycardia, cold clammy skin) from hematemesis and/or melena and needed volume resuscitation. Among the studied patients, 30 presented with isolated hematemesis, 2 presented with isolated melaena, and 68 presented with combined hematemesis and melaena (Table 1).

At endoscopy, 65% of patients had esophageal varices and required endotherapy like variceal ligation/sclerotherapy (Figure 1). We observed that 12% of patients had non-variceal bleeding, and 23% of patients had normal UGI endoscopic findings. Among the 12 patients who had non-variceal bleeding, 5 patients had gastric erosion, 1 patient had features of gastroesophageal reflux disease, 1 patient had nonconclusive findings but was ultimately diagnosed with hemophilia, 1 patient had features of blue rubber bleb nevus syndrome (Figures 2 and 3), 1 patient had a Mallory-Weiss tear, 2 patients had prolapsed gastropathy (Figure 4), and 1 patient with an eroded posterior duodenal artery from a duodenal ulcer underwent emergency laparotomic ligation of the eroded posterior duodenal artery (Table 2).

There were no patients with UGIB that was caused by foreign body ingestion. UGIB was caused in 65% of patients by variceal bleeding from ruptured esophageal varices. Among them, 47 patients were ultimately diagnosed with extrahepatic portal hypertension, and 18 patients were diagnosed with chronic liver disease (CLD). The etiology of CLD included Wilson's disease (12 patients), post-Kasai procedure for biliary atresia (1 patient), autoimmune hepatitis (1 patient), congenital hepatic fibrosis (1 patient), and cryptogenic (3 patients). The cause was idiopathic in 23 cases.

Raishidena® WJGE https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Demographic characteristics of the patients, <i>n</i> = 100		
Variable	Value	
Age in yr		
< 5	22 (22)	
5-10	42 (42)	
> 10	36 (36)	
Mean ± standard deviation	9.0 ± 4.5	
Sex		
Male	62 (62)	
Female	38 (38)	
Presentation		
Hematemesis	30 (30)	
Melena	2 (2)	
Hematemesis and melena	68 (68)	

Data are n (%) unless otherwise indicated.

Table 2 Upper gastrointestinal endoscopic findings of the patients, n = 100		
Variable	Value	
Normal	23 (23)	
Esophageal varices	65 (65)	
Extrahepatic PHTN	47 (47)	
CLD with PHTN	18 (18)	
Non-variceal causes		
Gastric erosion	5 (5)	
GERD	1 (1)	
Hemophilia	1 (1)	
BRBNS	1 (1)	
MWT	1 (1)	
PGS	2 (2)	
Duodenal artery erosion	1 (1)	

Data are *n* (%). BRBNS: Blue rubber bleb nevus syndrome; CLD: Chronic liver disease; GERD: Gastroesophageal reflux disease; MWT: Mallory-Weiss tear; PGS: Prolapsed gastropathy syndrome; PHTN: Pulmonary hypertension.

DISCUSSION

In the current study, the male to female ratio was 1.6:1, which is similar to another study of UGIB in children[6]. A recent study by Dubey *et al*[8] showed that UGIB was more common in the 5-10 year age group (71.4%). We also found that the majority of children (42%) were in the 5-10 year group.

Variceal bleeding from portal hypertension was the most common cause (65%) of UGIB in this study. In another study, portal hypertension accounted for 95% of cases[9]. The variceal bleeding rate of our study was very high in comparison to 10.6% in the Western hemisphere (South America and North America)[5,10,11]. These differences may be explained by referral bias (*i.e.* the majority of non-variceal bleeding cases were managed in non-tertiary healthcare centers, while variceal bleeding cases were referred to our tertiary care center). In addition, geographic variation of disease states resulting in UGIB may play a factor.

Among the variceal bleeding cases, extrahepatic portal hypertension was the major cause in 47% of patients, whereas 18% of patients were diagnosed with CLD with portal hypertension. Extrahepatic portal hypertension was also found to



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.44 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2024.

Figure 3 Blue rubber bleb nevus in the lower end of the esophagus.



DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v16.i1.44 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2024.

Figure 4 Prolapsed fundus of the stomach in the esophagus.

be a common cause (46%) of variceal bleeding in another study from a neighboring country [9,12]. In a study from India, 16.1% of cases of UGIB were caused by CLD with portal hypertension, which is similar to our findings (18%)[8]. Our study showed that Wilson's disease was the most common cause (12%) of CLD with portal hypertension and may be related to the burden of consanguineous marriage and/or referral bias. We found that 3% of UGIB cases were due to cryptogenic CLD with portal hypertension, which may be explained by the lack of modern laboratory facilities to diagnose metabolic liver diseases other than Wilson's disease.

During the evaluation of the 100 children with UGIB, we found that 12% of children had non-variceal bleeding. Among them, gastric erosion was found in 5% of cases, which is similar (9%) to another study from India[12]. This may be partially explained by parents using self-medication (nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs/traditional medications) during minor trauma, high fever, etc. Other endoscopic diagnosis were blue rubber bleb nevus syndrome, Mallory-Weiss tear, prolapsed gastropathy syndrome, and posterior duodenal artery erosion from duodenal ulcer. In our series, there were 23 idiopathic cases, which is similar to the findings from Mittal *et al*[12]. Cleveland *et al*[6] also found normal or doubtful sources on endoscopy in 42% of their cases. Normal UGI endoscopy findings may suggest minor mucosal lesions or extra GI sources (*i.e.* swallowed blood).

CONCLUSION

Upper GI endoscopic evaluation of children with UGIB showed ruptured esophageal varices were the most common cause of UGIB in Bangladesh.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB) is defined as bleeding that occurs proximal to the ligament of Treitz and can



sometimes lead to potentially serious and life-threatening clinical situations in children. The etiology of UGIB in children is diverse and causes vary with age, geographical location and associated comorbidity.

Research motivation

There is a paucity of data regarding the etiology, mode of presentation and endoscopic findings of UGIB in children of Bangladesh.

Research objectives

The purpose of the study was to observe endoscopic findings of 100 cases of UGIB that were admitted in the Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University, a tertiary care hospital of Bangladesh.

Research methods

This retrospective observational study was carried out in the department of Pediatric Gastroenterology of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University of Bangladesh. Data were collected from hospital records after approval from the departmental ethical committee. In total, 100 children who were 16 years of age or younger presented with hematemesis and/or melaena and underwent upper gastrointestinal endoscopy after stabilization of vitals within 24-48 h. Patients who were older than 16 years of age or presented with bright red per rectal bleeding were excluded. All patients were treated according to the standard departmental protocol. The study was approved by the departmental Ethics Committee. Statistical analysis were performed using frequency, means, standard deviations and proportions.

Research results

A total of 100 patients were studied. UGIB was most common in the 5-10 years age group (42%), followed by those older than 10 years (37%). Hematemesis was the most common presenting symptom (75%) followed by both hematemesis and melena (25%). UGIB from ruptured esophageal varices was the most common cause (65%) on upper gastrointestinal endoscopy followed by gastric erosion (5%) and prolapsed gastropathy (2%). We observed that 23% of patients had a normal endoscopy.

Research conclusions

Upper gastrointestinal endoscopic evaluation of children with UGIB showed that ruptured esophageal varices were the most common cause of UGIB in Bangladesh. Non-gastrointestinal causes like hemophilia may also present with gastrointestinal bleeding.

Research perspectives

Further multicenter studies should be conducted to determine non-gastrointestinal causes of UGIB.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All doctors, staff and patients of the Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition of Bangabandhu Shiekh Mujib Medical University.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Mazumder MW designed the research study and performed the research; Benzamin M analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the departmental Ethics Committee of the Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition of Bangabandhu Shiekh Mujib Medical University (Approval No. BSMMU/Ped. Gastro/2023/122).

Informed consent statement: As this was a retrospective study, consent from parents/patients was unnecessary.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement - checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the



original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Bangladesh

ORCID number: Md Wahiduzzaman Mazumder 0000-0001-6947-9572; Md Benzamin 0000-0002-8239-6541.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Poddar U. Diagnostic and therapeutic approach to upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Paediatr Int Child Health 2019; 39: 18-22 [PMID: 1 30058470 DOI: 10.1080/20469047.2018.1500226]
- Russell RCG, Williams NS, Bulstrode CJL. Bailey and love's short practice of surgery. 23rd ed. London: Arnold; 2000. p. 45-52 2
- Walker B, Colledge N, Ralston S, Davidson S. Davidson's principles and practice of medicine. 22nd ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 3 2014. p. 854. ISBN 978-0-7020-5103-6
- Grimaldi-Bensouda L, Abenhaim L, Michaud L, Mouterde O, Jonville-Béra AP, Giraudeau B, David B, Autret-Leca E. Clinical features and 4 risk factors for upper gastrointestinal bleeding in children: a case-crossover study. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2010; 66: 831-837 [PMID: 20473658 DOI: 10.1007/s00228-010-0832-3]
- El Mouzan MI, Abdullah AM, Al-Mofleh IA. Yield of endoscopy in children with hematemesis. Trop Gastroenterol 2004; 25: 44-46 [PMID: 5 15303474]
- Cleveland K, Ahmad N, Bishop P, Nowicki M. Upper gastrointestinal bleeding in children: an 11-year retrospective endoscopic investigation. 6 World J Pediatr 2012; 8: 123-128 [PMID: 22573422 DOI: 10.1007/s12519-012-0350-8]
- Chawla S, Seth D, Mahajan P, Kamat D. Upper gastrointestinal bleeding in children. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2007; 46: 16-21 [PMID: 17164504 7 DOI: 10.1177/1084713806297151]
- Dubey SRK Bhadauria N, Shukla M, Mittal P, Arya AK, Singh RP. Clinico-etiological pattern of upper gastrointestinal bleeding in children. 8 Int J Contemp Pediatr 2017; 4 [DOI: 10.18203/2349-3291.ijcp20164592]
- 9 Yachha SK, Khanduri A, Sharma BC, Kumar M. Gastrointestinal bleeding in children. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1996; 11: 903-907 [PMID: 8912124
- Dehghani SM, Haghighat M, Imanieh MH, Tabebordbar MR. Upper gastrointestinal bleeding in children in Southern Iran. Indian J Pediatr 10 2009; 76: 635-638 [PMID: 19390793 DOI: 10.1007/s12098-009-0092-3]
- Akasaka Y, Misaki F, Miyaoka T, Nakajima M, Kawai K. Endoscopy in pediatric patients with upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Gastrointest 11 Endosc 1977; 23: 199-200 [PMID: 863208 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(77)73651-x]
- Mittal SK, Kalra KK, Aggarwal V. Diagnostic upper GI endoscopy for hemetemesis in children: experience from a pediatric gastroenterology 12 centre in north India. Indian J Pediatr 1994; 61: 651-654 [PMID: 7721369 DOI: 10.1007/BF02751973]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: office@baishideng.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

